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INTRODUCTION 

This report is interim in that it encompasses investigation by the Commission up 

until, and including, 15 June 2006. The Commission has been prevented from 

carrying out its terms of reference in full due to the circumstances set out in Part 

F below. The report is divided into nine parts. Part A highlights the background 

to the Oil-For-Food Programme in Iraq ("the Programme"). Part B is a summary 

of a Report on Programme Manipulation by the Independent Inquiry Committee 

("the IIC Report" or "the report") which was commissioned by the United Nations 

("the UN"). Part C contains certain inferences which the IIC Report as well as 

documentation provided to the Commission by the IIC and the Departments of 

Minerals and Energy ("the DME") and Foreign Affairs ("the DFA") can sustain. 

Part D deals with a request to extend the Commission's terms of reference. 
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Possible recommendations by the Commission based solely on documentation 

analysed to date are included in Part E. Part F deals with limitations which have 

been placed on the execution of the Commission's terms of reference by 

circumstances which have arisen since its appointment. Part G is an illustrative 

analysis of certain documentation relating to three companies and two individuals 

in support of inferences drawn in Parts A to F. Part H deals with certain 

information, regarding the Iraqis surcharge requirements during the Programme, 

which is within the possession of the DME. Part I focuses on the role of the 

Permanent Mission of South Africa to the UN nhe Mission") in monitoring illicit 

activities by South African participants in the Programme. The aim of the 

conclusion of the report is to address certain requests to the President and also 

to identify outstanding areas of investigation which are required by the 

Commission's terms of reference ("the terms of reference"), before a final report 

can be submitted. Documents referred to in this report, in the form of two 

addenda, will be submitted in due course1
• For convenience certain 

observations by and comments of the Commission, as well as information 

introduced en passant by the Commission are printed in bold2
• Significant 

words and phrases have been underlined by the Commission for emphasis. 

Addendum One will contain copies of those documents rehed upon and identified in the footnotes 
tn Part G. Addendum Two will contain documents tdentified in the index to that file, which 
documents have been relied upon in the remaining pan of this report and which are not 
necessarily identified in the text or footnotes, such as indictments by the United States Attorney 
which have not been cited in full. 
Part E is devoted in its entirety to statements made by the Commission and bold print is not relied 
on. 
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PART A 

BACKGROUND TO THE OIL-FOR-FOOD-PROGRAMME 

[1 .] On 6 August 1990 the United Nations Security Council ("the Council") 

adopted Resolution 661, which imposed comprehensive economic 

sanctions on Iraq following that country's invasion of Kuwait. :The Council 
I 

acted under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations ("the 

Charter"). more particularly Articles 39 and 41 thereof, which together 

authorise the Council to determine the existence of any threat to peace, 

breach of the peace, or act of aggression, and to decrde on measures, not 

involving the use of armed force, to be employed to give effect to its 

decisions. Article 41 authorises the Council to call upon members of the 

UN to apply such measures, including complete or partial interruption of 

economic relations. In terms of Article 25 members are bound to accept 

and carry out such decisions of the Council in accordance with the 

Charter. 

(2.) Resolution 661 imposed the following obligations on member states. 

2 1 A prohibition was placed on the import into the territory of the state of all 

commodities and products originating in Iraq (or Kuwait) or exported from 

there. 
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2 2 States were bound to prevent any activities by their nationals or in their 

territories which would promote or were calculated to promote the export 

or trans-shipment of any commodities or products from Iraq. 

2.3. Significantly (for the purposes of this report), states were prohibited from 

making available to the Government of Iraq, or to any commercial or 

industrial or public utility undertaking in Iraq, any funds or any other 

financial or economic resources. Furthermore, states were bound to 

prevent their nationals and any persons within their territories from making 

available to that Government or to any such undertaking, anv such funds 

or resources and from remitting any other funds to persons or bodies 

within Iraq, except payment exclusively for medical or humanitarian 

purposes and, in humanitarian circumstances, foodstuffs 

[3.] Resolution 661 also established a Committee of the Council ("the 661 

Committee") consisting of all its members, to examine reports on the 

progress of implementation of the resolution and to seek further 

information from all states regarding action taken by them to implement 

the resolution. 

[4.] Between 10 and 17 March 1991 a miss1on despatched by the Secretary­

General of the UN to assess humanitarian needs arising in Iraq reported 

that "the Iraqi people may soon face a further imminent catastrophe, which 

could include epidemic and famine, if massive life supporting needs are 
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not rapidly met"3
• A humanitarian tragedy did resuW. This situation 

raised a contradiction between the fundamental purpose of the UN, 

contained in article 1 (1) of the Charter viz. the maintenance of 

international peace and security and the reaffirmation contained in 

the preamble to the Charter, of the faith of the Peoples of the United 

Nations In fundamental human rights and the dignity and worth of 

the human person. 

(5.) The comprehensive economic sanctions remained in place for six years 

until they were partially lifted by the adoption of Resolution 986 (1995) 

which effectively established the Programme in Iraq. Acting under 

Chapter VII the Council aimed to lift economic sanctions in part as ~ 

temporary measure to provide for the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi 

people until Iraq had fulfilled other relevant Council resolutions. This 

temporary measure had endured for 5 years before the illicit activities 

under investigation took place. By that time the extent of Saddam 

Hussein's remaining military capacity was in dispute. The officially 

approved assistance being rendered had, by that time, gone beyond what 

is strictly speaking regarded as humanitarian. It included infrastructure 

rehabilitation and activities in twenty four sectors, inter alia, electricity, 

agriculture, irrigation, education, transport and telecommunications. The 

Office of the Iraq Programme ("the OIP"), on behalf of the Secretariat of 

See UN Office of the Iraq Programme Information Document which makes reference to S/22366, 
par 37. (Document "I" in Addendum Two). 
It is described in the IIC Report of 7 September 2005 (Management of Oii-For-Pood Programme 
Vol !-Chapter 1 pp 79 to 81.). 



6 

the UN5
, was responsible for the overall management and coordination of 

the UN humanitarian activities. Nine UN agencies were responsible for 

implementing the Programme in the three Northern Governates. 

[6.] In the preamble to Resolution 986 the Council expressed its concern for 

the serious nutritional and health situation of the Iraqi population. as well 

as its conviction of the need for a temporary measure to provide for their 

humanitarian needs until the fulfilment of previous Council resolutions. 

notably Resolution 687 {1991) of 3 April1991 . 

[7 .) This resolution effectively allowed the Council to take further action with 

regard to prohibitions in Resolution 661 until the Council had been 

satisfied that Iraq had unconditionally accepted the destruction, removal or 

rendering harmless, under international supervision, of all its chemical and 

biological weapons, all its stocks of agents and all its research 

development, support and manufacturing facilities related thereto as well 

as all its ballistic missiles with a range greater than 150 kilometres. 

Furthermore, Iraq was required to give unconditional undertakings in this 

regard and in regard to the development of nuclear weapons 

[8.] The Iraq disarmament file has still not been closed because both the 

International Atomic Energy Agency rthe IAEA") and United Nations 

Monitoring, Verification and Inspection Commission ("the UNMOVIC") are 

In tenns of Article 7 of the Charter, the Secretariat Is one of the principal organs of the UN; the 
others being the Council, the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council , a Trusteeship 
Council and the International Court of Justice. 
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not in a position to return to Iraq under current political circumstances. UN 

weapon sanctions are therefore still in place. However, from the update 

report of the IAEA to the Council on 27 January 2003, and the report of 

the CIA-led Iraq Survey Group (generally referred to as the Deulfer 

Report), dated March 2005, it appears that during the period of the 

Programme sanctions were being directed at Saddam Hussein's strategic 

intent and lack of co-operation rather than his actual military capabilities. 

[9.] Resolution 986 reaffirmed the commitment of all member states to the 

sovereignty and territorial integrity of I rag. 

[10.] The provisions of Resolution 986 came to be the rules of the Programme. 

Between December 1996 and December 2002 the Council adopted a 

series of resolutions that reauthorized the Programme for 13 phases of 

operation, with each one enduring for approximately 180 days. 

(11 .) The Programme, which was confirmed in a Memorandum of 

Understanding ("the MOU") concluded between the UN and the 

Government of Iraq on 20 May 1996, was set out in Resolution 986. 

11 .1 States were permitted to import petroleum and petroleum products 

originating in Iraq, and to carry out financial and other essential 

transactions directly related thereto. 
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11.2 Iraq could sell up to US $ 1 billion of crude oil every ninety days for the 

purposes set out in the resolution (viz. the supply of humanitarian needs to 

the Iraqi people} and subject to the conditions spelt out in the resolution6
. 

The first oil under the Programme was exported on 10 December 1996. 

For the first three ~six month phases" the Council set a ceiling of two billion 

dollars on oil exports in each phase. For Phases 4 and 5 the ceiling was 

raised to US $ 5, 2 billion but the low price of oil and the state of Iraq's oil 

industry put that out of reach. In Phase 6, the Council, by way of 

Resolution 1266 (1999), addressed the earlier shortfalls and permitted 

Iraq to export an additional US $ 3 billion worth of oil. Council Resolution 

1284 (1999) removed the ceiling on Iraqi oil exports. 

11.3 Procedures for purchases of oil and humanitarian goods were established. 

The State Oil Marketing Organisation of Iraq ("SOMO") and the UN Oil 

Overseers ("the Oil Overseers") would agree from time to time on an 

official selling price of crude oil ("the OSP") which was fixed for a time 

period. The selling price of humanitarian goods was agreed between 

tendering companies and a ministry of the Government of Iraq. The 

contracts required the approval of the 661 Committee. 

11 .4 States were bound to take any steps that were necessary under their 

domestic legal systems to assure that petroleum and petroleum products 

subject to Resolution 986 would be immune from legal proceedings, ~and 

Sec paragraph I of Resolution 986. 



9 

to ensure the proceeds of the sale (of petroleum were) not diverted from 

the purposes laid down in this resolution" 7• 

Resolution 1538 (2004) 

[12.] During 2004 Resolution 1538 was adopted by the Council to endorse the 

appointment of a high level inquiry, the Independent Inquiry Committee 

("the IIC"), to investigate the administration and management of the 

Programme in Iraq. This resolution affirmed that any illicit activity by UN 

officials, personnel and agents, as well as contractors, including entities 

that had entered into contracts under the Programme were unacceptable. 

The Council called upon the Coalition Provisional Authority, Iraq, and all 

other member states, including their national regulatory authorities, to co­

operate fully with the enquiry by all appropriate means. The IIC started its 

investigation in April 2004. It consisted of three members assisted by the 

staff of the UN. The IIC was chaired by Paul Volcker, a former United 

States Federal Reserve Chairman. The two other committee members 

were Richard Goldstone (a former South African Judge) and Mark Pieth (a 

Swiss Professor of Law). 

[13.) The mandate of the IIC was expressed as follows. 

"The independent inquiry shall collect and examine information 

relating to the administration and management of the Oil-for-Food 

See paragraph 14 of Resolution 986. 
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Programme, including allegations of fraud and corruption on the 

part of United Nations officials, personnel and agents, as well as 

contractors. including entities that have entered into contracts with 

the United Nations or with Iraq under the Programme: 

(a) To determine whether the procedures established by the 

Organization, including the Security Council and the Security 

Council Committee established by Resolution 661 (1990) 

concerning the Situation between Iraq and Kuwait (hereinafter 

referred to as the '661 Committee') for the processing and approval 

of contracts under the Programme, and the monitoring of the sale 

and delivery of petroleum and petroleum products and the 

purchase and delivery of humanitarian goods. were violated, 

bearing in mind the respective roles of United Nations officials, 

personnel and agents, as well as entities that have entered into 

contracts with the United Nations or with Iraq under the 

Programme; 

(b) To determine whether any United Nations officials, personnel, 

agents or contractors engaged in any illicit or corrupt activities in 

the carrying out of their respective roles in relation to the 

Programme, including, for example, bribery in relation to oil sales. 

abuses in regard to surcharges on oil sales and illicit payments in 

regard to purchases of humanitarian goods; 
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(c) To determine whether the accounts of the Programme were in 

order and were maintained in accordance with the relevant 

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations". 

[14.] On 27 October 2005, the IIC Report was released. This was 

accompanied by a set of eight comprehensive tables identifying 

contractors under the Programme and other actors of significance to 

Programme transactions, such as non-contractual beneficiaries of Iraqi oil 

allocations and parties that financed oil transactions8
. The tables are 

referred to below according to the number given to them by the IIC. 

Certain allegedly South African companies and individuals were listed in 

the tables as having partaken in illicit activities relating to oil or 

humanitarian goods transactions under the Programme. In the narrative 

.. 
the report identified certain role players who were allegedly South 

African nationals and were alleged to be political beneficiaries. 

[15.] The report amounts to the documentation of a fact finding exercise 

which the IIC undertook. The IIC is not an organ of the UN. No legal 

consequences can be attached to its findings. Nor are the findings 

the subject of a binding Council resolution under Chapter VII. In a 

press release the Secretary-General of the UN "called on Member States 

to take action against illegal practices by companies under their 

The tables are accessible on the IIC's website at http: //www.i ic-offp.org. 
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jurisdiction and to prevent recurrences". He also hoped that "national 

authorities will take steps to prevent the recurrence of such practices in 

the future, and that they will take action, where appropriate against 

companies falling within their jurisdiction"9
. This Commission was 

apparently appointed by the President pursuant to the Secretary­

General's expectation 10
• The approach of the Commission to the 

interpretation of its mandate and the recommendations which it is 

required to make in due course is infused with the spirit of his 

request. 

Defining illicit activities under the Programme 

(16.] The IIC defined illicit activities with reference to the rules and procedures 

governing transactions as provided for by Resolutions 661 and 986. 

Procedures established for oil purchases 

[17.] The state concerned had to submit an application, endorsed by the 

9 

10 

Government of Iraq for each proposed purchase of Iraqi petroleum, to the 

661 Committee. In order to ensure the transparency of each transaction 

and its conformity with the other provisions of Resolution 986, each 

application had to include details of the purchase price at fair market 

value, the export route, and the opening of a letter of credit, payable to an 

Press release available at http://www.iic-offp.org/story27oct05.htm. 
See Gazelle No. 28528 of 17 February 2006. 



escrow accounl to be e~- tary-Ge; 

("the UN =:scrow Accour. for tne purpose any ' 

transaction carried out in terms of the resolut Pa 

amount of each purchase of Iraqi petroleum ha 

the purchaser in the state concerned Into this acr. unr~. 

[18.] Iraq was at liberty to choose the purchasers of its oil 

contract with countries holding pro Iraq views or those 

support removal of sanctions. The report v ewed lrc 

contract with ccuntrie!: holding pro lrnq 

lncluc.ied stcte£ Qenuinel)' concerned with tl effect 

the civilian popufation of Iraq) as "polltict manlput~t 

view of this Commission, it remained the -~verelgn g 

which was reinforced b~, paragraph 1(E) of Resolution sn 

Iraq. 

(19.] Procedures for the purchase of humanitmian P.Q.Q..Q.§ 

19 1 Funds in the escrow account had to be used mee1 th 

needs of the Iraqi populctiOn and for the purpos£= of finar 

Iraq of medicine. health supplies, foodstuffs, and materia 

for essent1al civilian needs,:! 

Scl· paragraph I (a) of Resolution 98Ct 
Sc!' paragraph I {bl of Resolution 98<! 
S~:~ paragraph 8(a) on e~olution Q8~ 
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19 2 The following conditions Were imposed 

(a) Each export of goods had to be at the requr.st of lh 

Iraq. 

(b) The Iraqi Government had to guarantee equitat 

thereof to its population on the basis of plan su 

approved by the Secretary-General of the UN. 

(c) The Secretary-General had to receive authenticat 

that the exported goods had arrived in lrao 



PARTB 

SUMMARY OF IIC RI:PORT ON PROGRAMME M 
2005) AND SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

[20.] The report included six chapters. For presen1 purpos l re ev n1 

(viz. Oil Trar,sactiolls and Illicit Payments and Hu Good 

Transactions and Illicit Payments) One is sigrnficant 1 Ban~ 

BNP Paribas New York -and Conflicting Interest), part n 1aUO 

to the transactions irvolved in Part D below. 

[21.] Essential featt..'es of tile IIC Report are repeated below 4 

21 .1 The report seeks to illustrate "the manner in which Iraq ma pu ted lhe 

to derive illicit payments from companies that o B ne ot ano 

humanitarian goods contracts". 

21.2 Under the Programme Iraq sold US $ 64. 2 billion of oil t pan1es 

Iraq purchased US $ 34, 5 billion of humanitarian gooo f om 3 6,4 

companies. 

21.3 Oil surcharges '~'ere vaid in connection witr 

'" 

companies. Humanitanan kickbacks were pare in con 

contracts of 2, 253 companres. 

See Summary of the II( Report , Chapter One, page~ 1-8 Porti•'n' of the S 
report are quoted in im erted commas in Part B. 

f 



21 A The tables ('th€' 1'C ~bles'') released with the e::>ort idP 

if known by the 'IC, how much was paid to tile Gover 

respect to particu ar Programme contracts. 

21.5 The principle sauce of this illicit payment data- was mf 

by the IIC from various ministries of the Government o 

data received from numerous banking institutions and 

from the company contractors themselves. 

21.6 Pursuant to a request which the Commission dliected 

February 2006, the latter provided the Commlss1on with 

The provision thereof was made subject to a writte 

confidentiality on the part of the Commission. Furthermo 

made in accordance with the conditions laid down in a 

from the UN Office of Lege:! Affairs. dated 8 March 200 

provided included UN contract files records of Iraqi M1 

Iraqi policy documents and additional materials. 

21 7 UN contract files include financial and transactional docu 

I' 

purchases under the Programme. These records we~ 

maintained by the Ul'-l Treasury anc OIP in the norma 

Copies of the various t£t ers st2ting the conditions unrler which ClocumenlR 
to the Commission rr·e att~cbed to r co·;er letter, addressco to the 
Commission, wbich sen es the purpn~e or ~uhminin~ Ibis repc rt '3 thf P~ 



Programme. - r:.y we 

Programme act v es 

a d elied up 0 c 

21 8 Records of the various raq ministries were ob ned b 

Government of Iraq They refate to relevan 

Programme. The\ reflect the levy and payment of kickba .... 

with humanitarian contracts under the Programme. Th 

prepared canter-, poraneously with the activitie record 

maintained as permanent records of the respect ve mm 

used and relied upon to conduct regular activitte f the • 

21.9 Of particular relevance to this enquiry were e rec 

obtained by the liC from the offices of SOMO 

SOMO documents relatmg to oil purchases unde the 

e 

ere 

IIC contends that it established, firstly. that these records -d 

as permanent reco,.ds of SOMO. and secondly that the~ ~ cr ted n 

relied upon to co .duct the regular activities of SOMO. 

21 10 ~OMO records include: 

(a) A comprehensive set of SOMO alice t on hs 

approval letters related to oil allocatlor ~ 

contract for every ent1ty that participated the 

Phase 1 through Phase 13; 
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(b) a lis1 o allccahons fa Phasec: 1 lo 1 

(c) a SOMO Summai)l Report of Februa 2004. 

(d) a SOMO ledger of paid and levied surc.;l'larges. 

(e) a comprehensive set of SOMO ba~l' recor 

surchargE payments, including state:ments, 

messages obtaflled from SOMO, Jo dan 

Fransabank 

21 .1 1 Most of the original documents were in Arable The 

Commission with English translations of certain docu 

cases the Commission has utilised lhe seNices of a swo1 

21 12 The Commission has examined bookl~eeplng recordr 

IIC from the lrc:oi Ministries as well fJS from SOr 

comprehensive!~· z.nd assiduously produced The co 

Iraqi officialS· or producin~ an}rthing less. £lCC"'rdlng 

at the Commission's disposal, were dire. - imp 

were confi~med by auditors of the firm KPrlG', who 

team mandated b~ the Interim lrc.:q Governing unci! 

ecoplng lnvestigc-tion of the Programme. The conclu 

at 
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to the effect that Iraqi Government records are reliable, may 

therefore be accepted until the contrary is shown in respect of any 

particular document. However, this assumption does not exclude 

the possibility that the IIC may not have been placed in possession 

of c.ll the relevant documentation. 

21.13 A qualification to the information presented by the IIC in the tables 

needs to be emphasised viz. "that the identification of a particular 

company's contract as having been the subject of an illicit payment does 

not necessarily mean that such 'company as opposed to an agent or 

secondary purchaser with an interest in the transaction' made, authorised, 

(or) knew about illicit payment". 

21 14 This disclaimer was inevitably brought about by the fact that, during 

the Programme, a multiplicity of participants began to play a role 

between the buyers and sellers. Intermediary contractors were 

Introduced into multiparty oil sales. Agents and Influential third 

parties played a significant role between Iraqi Ministries and the 

sellers of humanitarian goods. Some sellers freely complied with 

Iraq's kickback policy. Many others made payments to third parties 

or agents, either unwillingly or In disregard of the purpose of the 

payments. The precise role of each participant could not be 

monitored by the UN. 
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21 . i 5 Information before the Commis!ion indicc.tes that the question, of 

whether or not surcharges or kickbacks were paid or offered by the 

South African comparies and individuals identified in the Anne~ure, 

has to be exc.mined within the context of various conspiracies to 

mtke oirect paymen~ to the lrtqis. The parties to such conspiracies 

were the Government of Iraq, on the one hanci, tnd any number of 

persons who beczme associated with them In "side agreements", to 

make illicit payments, on the other. The effect thereof is thc.t a 

thorough lnvestigc.tion by this Commission mzy eltonerate a 

contrc.cting company to whom the IIC Tables has 2ttributed 

responsibility for the payment of a surcharge or o r.ickback. 

Conversely, other rote player~ could be implicc:ted. This is 

elaboreled upon below. The methodology employed by the IIC caulri 

est.zlJiish that proceciures laio down by the Council cmd the MOU had 

been violated. Precise identification of the Individual responsible in 

each snd every case was not possible. 

Summanf of tlC conclusions re oil transactions &nd Illicit payments 

[22] The IIC Tables do not deal with the payment of so-called "port charges" 

which the Government of Iraq required before cargo ships would be 

permitted to lift oil from Iraqi ports. Port charges had to be paid directly to 

the Iraqi authorities. These payments were unauthorised and were 

concealed from the Programme. 
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[23.) "At the outset of the Programme, Iraq preferred to sell its oil to companies 

and Individuals from countries that were perceived as 'friendly' to Iraq, 

and. in particular, if they were permanent members of the Council in a 

position potentially to ease the restrictions of sanct1ons. Russian 

companies received almost one-third of oil sales under the Programme. 

Through its Ministry of Fuel and Energy, Russia coordinated with Iraq on 

the allocation of crude oil to Russian companies. French companies were 

the second largest purchaser of oil under the Programme". Nevertheless, 

a substantial volume of oil under contract with Russian companies was 

purchased and financed by companies based in the United States, which 

ultimately received the lion's share of the oil allocated by Iraq. 

(24 ] The IIC concluded that the "decision to allow Iraq to choose its buyers 

empowered Iraq with economic and political leverage to advance its 

broader interest in overturning the sanctions regime. Iraq selected oil 

recipients in order to influence foreign policy and international public 

opinion in its favour". 

[25.] As ~lrezdy stated, Iraq's selection of otl recipient~ involved a 

manifestation of its sovereignty which had been reaffirmed b~· 

Resolution 988. Under international law no adverse conclusion can 

be drawn from the existence of lnternalion&l inter~.ction between 

particular states and the Iraqi regime: should this prove to have 

bec;n limited to the purchase of oil by such states {and their 

ndionalt) ir; return for support for the removal or economic 
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sanctions. Sta~es, which had a particular poliiic'! interest in kee~ing 

sanctions in place (such as the USA} retained their sovereign right to 

legislate accordingly in their domestic law. Prosecutions for 

lobbying on behalf of the Iraqi Government anci against sanctions 

were effected in this regard under US Federc.l Law16
• However, the 

liberty of Iraq to conduct international economic relations with the 

nation states it favoured is distinguishable from the collusion of the 

lrao.i regime with other states, as well as with companies and 

individuals, in artier lo facilitate the pa~'ment of surcharges and 

!dckbacks to the regime. This was prohibited by Resolutions 661 

and 986 and took place d the expense of the civilian population of 

tre.q. 

[26.] Several years into the Programme, the regime realised that it could 

16 

generate illicit income outside of UN oversight by requiring oil purchasers 

to pay "surcharges" of generally between 10 to 30 cents per barrel of oil17
• 

The surcharge policy commenced in the autumn of 2000, during Phase 8, 

and lasted till the autumn of 2002, through the middle of Phase 12. 

Payments were made mostly to Iraqi controlled bank accounts in Jordan 

and Lebanon, as well as by cash deposits to Iraqi embassies in Moscow 

and elsewhere. Ultimately the regime derived US $ 228, 800. 000 from 

surcharge payments. 

See USA v Samir A Vincent: USA v Tongsun Park (United States District Court for the Southern 
District of New York). Vincent was indicted, inter alia, for lobbying officia!s of the US 
Government and the UN to repeal sanctions against Iraq, while he was receiving directions from 
the Government of Iraq; without notification to the Attorney General, in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, section 951. 
Reference to "cents", unless otherwise stated, implies the currency of the USA. 
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[27.] This was made possible by an evolution in SOMO sales practice. At 

first it sold directly to end-users (oil refineries) and then via oil 

traders to end users. During the period under investigation it sold 

via intermediaries to traders who on-sold to end-users18
• 

[28.) A committee, which included Saddam Hussein, Vice President Taha 

Yassin Ramadan ("Ramadan") and Deputy Premier Tariq Aziz ("Aziz") set 

the surcharge amount for each phase. The Ministry of Oil and SOMO 

were directed to implement it. UThe first step taken by SOMO employees 

was to inform each beneficiary that a surcharge was imposed on each 

barrel of oil sold under the Programme and was to be collected directly by 

the Government of lrag"19
• SOMO assessed surcharges of between 10 

and 30 cents per barrel. Surcharges were levied on each barrel lifted (that 

is, loaded by a tanker at the port). On 15 December 2000 the Oil 

Overseers warned traders and companies that such payments were 

illegal20. 

[29.] Iraq's upolitical beneficiaries" often used little known intermediary 

II 

19 

10 

companies to enter into oil contracts for oil allocated to them. The 

contract holders were not known in the industry They were small and had 

limited credit facilities. They usually could not open letters of credit or 

charter ships on their own account. They sold to an established oil 

See Oil Overseers Repon for 661 Committee, dated 20 February 2001 (document "2" in 
Addendum Two). 
I IC Report, Chapter 2, Page 18, Section C. 
See the advice of the 661 Committee dated IS December 2000 (document "3" in Addendum Two). 
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company or trader. The oil companies and traders paid the intermediary 

company a premium above the UN's OSP. This premium was used by the 

intermediary company in turn to pay the beneficiary or another person or 

entity that was designated to receive those funds. 

(30.] From the documentation available it would be incorrect to state that 

South Africa was a political beneficiary that used little known 

intermediary companies. The entity Falcon Trading Group ("Falcon") 

was not a South African company. It was a front for Shakir AI Khafaji 

("AI Khafaji"), an Iraqi national residing in the USA. AI Khafaji was a 

beneficiary with influence. Montega Trading (Pty) Ltd ("Montega"), 

which was a South African company, obtained an oil allocation 

because AJ Khafaji had personal influence with the Iraqi regime. The 

same applies to Omni Oil, another front for AI Khafaji, which 

processed its oil contracts through the Mission under the guise of 

being a South African company. In fact no such company was 

registered in South Africa. 

[31.] Available documentation suggests that the DME was involved in 

implementing a policy of Black Economic Empowerment ('cBEE"). 

This is distinguishable from introducing BEE companies into the oil 

industry for corrupt purposes. However, the economy of introducing 

any intermediaries into the Programme at all was questionable, 

because this inevitably inflated prices and drained the Programme of 
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funds which were intended to be used to provide Iraqi civilians with 

humanitarian assistance. 

(32.) The layers of individuals or companies which intruded between the 

allocation and end-user of Iraq's crude oil resulted in transactions in which 

the UN could not determine from the contracts in question who had 

actually benefited from or controlled the purchase of oil. 

[33.] Consequently many of Iraq's regular customers balked at buying Iraqi oil, 

but a group of four oil traders began to take a greater role in the market. 

All four had limited access to direct contracts under the Programme, and 

used intermediaries to maintain their access to Iraqi crude oil. For present 

purposes Bay Oil Supply and Trading Limited ("Bay Oil"), and Glencore 

International AG ("Giencore"), a Swiss company, are significant. 

Beginning in Phase 9 of the Programme, from December 2000, they 

purchased crude oil through intermediary entities. The use of SOPAK, a 

subsidiary of Glencore, was significant in purchases made through South 

African entities. Oil companies and traders were saddled with higher 

premiums over the OSP to account for the payment of the surcharges at 

some stage in the contractual chain. 

[34 ] While most participants involved in the Iraqi crude oil market admitted to 

being aware of Iraq's surcharge demands, some conceded to the tiC that 

they had arranged with oil companies to use a portion of the premium 

payments to meet the surcharge demands. In the autumn of 2002, after 
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the 661 Committee had imposed "retroactive pricing", which decreased 

demand, the Government of Iraq decided to discontinue its surcharge 

policy. 

Summary of IIC conclusions re humanitaricm goods transactions c:nd illicit 
payments 

(35.] Iraq's largest source of illicit income from the Programme came from 

kickbacks paid by companies that the regime had selected to receive 

contracts for humanitarian goods. This allowed the regime to obtain the 

direct payment of more than US $ 1, 5 billion. The payments to the 

regime were disguised and were not reported to the UN by Iraq or the 

parties with whom Iraq contracted. The kickback policy began in mid 

1999, after Iraq attempted or had attempted to recoup costs it incurred to 

transport goods to inland destinations after their arrival by sea at the port 

of Umm Qasr, i.e. without seeking UN approval for such compensation 

from the UN Escrow Account. Iraq required humanitarian contractors to 

make such payments directly to Iraqi controlled bank accounts or to front 

companies outside of Iraq, who then forwarded the payments to the 

regime. By mid 2000 Iraq had instituted a policy. gf imposing a ten percent 

kickback requirement generally on all humanitarian contractors. This 

included goods shipped by land as well as by sea. This policy was in 

addition to the requirement for inland transport fees. 

[36.] An after-sales-service provision was incorporated into contracts to inflate 

prices, and permitted contractors to recover from the UN Escrow Account 
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the amount that they had secretly paid to Iraq in the form of kicl~backs . 

Contractors ordinarily made the payments before their goods were 

permitted to enter Iraq. Many compantes s1mply paid the after-sales­

service directly to the regime. Others made payments to third parties or 

agents, who then paid the regime. Kickbacks were paid in connection with 

the contracts of more than two thousand two hundred companies in the 

form of inland transportation fees, after-sales-service fees, or both. The 

overpayment of the after-sales-service fee out of the UN Escrow Account 

reduced the proceeds available from oil sales, which were intended to be 

used to provide assistance to the civilian population of Iraq. 

The Escrow Bcml~ and Conflicting Interest 

[37 ] In 1996, the Secretary-General selected Banque Nationale de Paris 

S.A. ("BNP"), a French banking corporation, to serve as the escrow bank 

under the Programme. The agreement between the bank and the UN 

provided that the provisions of Resolution 986 and the MOU were 

"essential and fundamental terms and conditions". The agreement 

required BNP to confirm all letters of credit issued by other banks under 

the Programme: but it also allowed BNP, its branches, subsidiaries and 

affiliates to issue letters of credit on behalf of private oil purchasers. 

Ultimately such banks issued approximately three out of every four letters 

of credit that financed oil purchases. BNP Paribas (Suisse) S.A. Geneva 

("BNP Paribas") was significant in this regard. 
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[38.] Consequently BNP had a conflict of interest. On the one hand it had to 

serve the interest of the UN to promote transparency of transactions. On 

the other hand it had to serve the interests of private cl ients and maintain 

the confidentiality of their business and financing arrangements. BNP had 

"unique access" to information relating to purchases of oil by shell 

companies, which was often accompanied by the assignment of rights and 

resale of oil. Typically a large corporate entity such as Glencore would 

finance letters of credit in the name of a shell company and would request 

the bank not to disclose its participation in the transaction. This would not 

be called to the attention of the UN. This deficiency applied to the 

financing of the Lexoil Contract which is dealt with below. 
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PARTC 

U~FERENCES TO BE DRAWi\\ FROM THE IIC REPORT AND ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTATION 

[39.] This Commission was appointed in terms of section 84(2)(f) of the 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 ("the Constitution"), to 

conduct an investigation into the alleged illicit activities of certain South 

African companies or individuals relating to the Programme. Its terms of 

reference were published in a Schedule in Gazette No. 28528 on 17 

February 2006. The companies and individuals, as well as the alleged 

illicit activities were set out in an annexure to the Schedule ("the 

Annexure"). For convenience companies and individuals identified are 

referred to generally as alleged offenders and their names are cited in an 

abbreviated form. 

[40.] As a first step in the Commission's investigation it was required (by the 

term of reference numbered l(ii)), to access and analyse all evidence and 

information obtained and assessed by the IIC. which related to alleged 

offenders and "which may assist in this investigation". The Commission 

obtained a plethora of information from the IIC by 18 March 2006. More 

information is still being accessed. The circumstances under which 

access was obtained were described in an interim report, dated 31 March 

2006 ("the interim report"). Since 18 March 2006 the Commission has 

been analysing documentation and other information received from the IIC 

and other sources. All of this evidence and information has not been 
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analysed due to existing time constraints. Proper analysis by the 

Commission is required to establish whether or not the conclusions in the 

IIC Report are justified in regard to the alleged offenders and the 

circumstances under which their alleged illicit activities were carried out. 

[41.] Based only on information provided by the IIC, which is substantially 

hearsay, and without questioning relevant witnesses orally, the inferences 

drawn under paragraphs (421 and [441 are reasonably sustainable. Similar 

conclusions were drawn and suggestions made, either explicitly or 

implicitly, in the IIC Report. The Commission is bound by its terms of 

reference to test the correctness of these findings. It has intended to do 

so from the outset by exercising the powers given to it in terms of the 

Commissions Act, 1947 (Act No. 8 of 1947) ("the Commissions Act"), and 

the Regulations made by the President thereundef1
. However, it has 

been prevented from doing so by the circumstances set out in Part F 

below. 

Inferences arrsmg from IIC documentation (presently before the 
Commission) 

Inferences reoarding t\liaiali/Montega/lmvume 

[42.] (a) Mr Sandi Majali ("Majali") conspired with the Iraqis to pay their 

existing claims for oil surcharges against Montega as well as other 

21 Regulations published in Gazeue No. 28528 of 17 February 2006. 
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surcharges which would have accrued against lmvume from its 

Crude Oil Contract No. M/11/72, dated 27 March 2002. 

(b) Majali/lmvume made an advance surcharge payment of US $ 60, 

000 (probably in respect of the lmvume Contract referred to in 

subparagraph (a) above). 

(c) Majali's need to pay surcharges, concomitantly with the execution 

of lmvume contracts, was probably known to the management of 

the South African Strategic Fuel Fund ("the SFF"}, who might have 

become associated in this illicit activity by concluding a contract to 

purchase Basrah Light Crude Oil ("Basrah LCO") from the Iraqis, 

via lmvume and its financier (Giencore/SOPAK). A direct 

relationship between state institutions (SOMO on behalf of Iraq 

and the SFF on behalf of South Africa), would have 

circumvented the involvement of the South African state in the 

payment of oil surcharges altogether (if necessary by a simple 

refusal on the part of the SFF to pay oil surcharges). 

(d) The Secretary-General of the African National Congress ("the 

ANC"), Mr Kgalema Motlanthe ("Motlanthe"), probably knew of the 

conspiracy referred to in (a) above and might have become 

associated in it in some manner, as is illustrated by and inferred 
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from Majali's letter ("the proposal letter") to the Oil Minister in the 

IIC's Report22
• 

(e) The Mission, in the person of at least two South African officials 

(viz. Andries Dormehl ("Oormehl") and Simon Cardy ("Cardy"}), was 

likely to have been aware of the exposure of Majali, Montega and 

lmvume to the peremptory requirement of paying surcharges. If 

so, this could have attracted liability to the Republic of South 

Africa under international law. This would have arisen from z 

breach of Article 25 (read with Article 4'1) of the Charter; that 

is, as a result of a failure on the part of South Africa to compl~, 

with directions contained in Resolutions 661 and 986 which 

imposed and regulated economic sanctions. 

A further inference (arisina from non IIC documentation} 

[43.] Based on further documentation, which was provided to the Commission 

by the Minister of Minerals and Energy on 26 April 2006, a further 

conclusion arises. That is, on 7 August 2001, when she signed the 

approval of an official (technical) visit to Iraq by DME officials from 10 to 

14 September 2001, the Minister of Minerals and Energy at the time, Ms P 

Mlambo-Ngcuka, was aware of the surcharges being imposed by the 

Iraqis on BEE Groups, and that this issue needed to be addressed by 

officials of the department for which she was responsible. 

22 See Chapter 2 of the JJC Report on pI 13. 
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Inferences regarding Mocoh (South Africa) 

[44.] {a) Mr Tokyo Sexwale rsexwale") and Mr Michael Hacking ("Hacking") 

were co-shareholders in Mocoh. 

(b) Sexwale personally was the non-contractual beneficiary of 5, 8 

million barrels of oil which were allotted to him during Phases 6, 7, 

8 and 13 which apparently were never lifted. The allotment during 

Phase 8, of one million barrels, was effected on the basis that the 

country receiving the allotment was Italy. 

(c) Mocoh concluded six contracts It was allocated 10, 800, 000 

barrels It lifted 8, 592, 627 barrels with a contract value of US $ 

185, 598,266. 

(d) In respect of Contract No. M/08/54 ("the First Mocoh Contract"), 

which was concluded during Phase 8, a total of 946, 313 barrels 

were lifted. A surcharge of US$ 94, 631 was levied and paid. (The 

First Mocoh Contract is the only Mocoh Contract which is not in the 

possession of the Commission). 

(e) In respect of Contract No. M/09/40 ("the Second Mocoh Contract"), 

1, 917. 957 barrels were lifted. A surcharge in the amount of US $ 

479, 489 was levied and US$ 480, 068 was paid (leaving a surplus 

of US$ 579). 
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(f) All the surcharges were paid through Hacking who acted in person 

by either making the payments or giving authority to others to do so 

on behalf of Mocoh. 

(g) Knowledge of both the surcharges levied (which was a well known 

demand of the Iraqis) as well as of the payments can be attributed 

to Sexwale who was Hacking's co-director. 

(h) The Mission was probably aware of this situation, with similar 

consequences to those in paragraph [42](e) above. 

Foreign exploit2tion of South Africa 

[45.] Documents provided by the IIC, as well as Mission records provided 

by the DFA, reveal a S)'Stematic exploitation of South Africa's 

favoured nation status with Iraq during the Programme by a coterie 

of entrepreneurs and international oil traders such as Glencore and 

Bay Oil. Most of these were foreigners. The entities, Omni Oil c.nd 

Falcon, illustrate this phenomenon. Both misrepresented to the 

Mission that they were South African companies in order to facilitate 

their participation in the Programme. Neither was a South African 

company. The prime mover behind these two entities was AI Khafaji. 

He conspired with a ~outh African, flf,r Rodnev Hemphill ("Hel'!lphil.l") 

lo e~ploit the rvwis~ion. Hacking, who &uthorised the surcharge 
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payments made by Mocoh is a British resident. He does not appear 

to have a South African identity number. 

(46.] The foreign nationality of AI Khafaji and Hacking and the lack of 

registration in South Africa of Omni Oil and Falcon would seem to 

dispose of the allegation that these allegedly South African 

companies and individuals took part in illicit activities. However, the 

question remains as to whether or not they used persons "within 

(South African) territory" who made funds or resources available to 

the Government of Iraq, an activity which was targeted by Resolution 

661 . 

(47.] International law allocates corporate entities to states for purposes 

23 

of diplomatic protection, usually by the state under the laws of which 

it is incorporated23
• The consequence of misrepresenting the 

nationality of Omni Oil and Falcon to the Mission was that potential 

prejudice to the Republic of South Africa was likely to result. 

Induced by the representation that an applicant company was 

registered in South Africa the Mission would, in all likelihood, have 

endorsed the bona fides of a contractor. The contractor would then 

have become admitted to the Programme on the basis that the 

company was a South African national. South Africa was bound to 

prevent its nationals and persons within its territory from providing 

See the BARCELONA TRACTION CASE: Case Concerning the Barcelona Traction, Light and 
Power Company Limited (Second Phase) Belgium v Spain ICJ Reports 1970 [Paragraph 70). 
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finance to the Iraqi Government The obligation arose under the 

Charter which is a tre2ty. As a result of their admission to the 

Programme through the South African Mission, the illicit activities of 

AI Khdaji, Omni Oil and Falcon were attributed in some measure to 

South Africa. However, South Africa had no jurisdiction over these 

foreign entities, because they were controlled by foreign nationals 

residing beyond South Africa's borders. 

[48.] The Republic is bound by the Charter, an international agreement, 

24 

1S 

26 

which was binding on the Republic when the Constitution took 

effecf". However, the Charter can only become taw within the 

Republic ("domestic law") when it is enacted into law by national 

legislation25
• No legislation currently exists in South Africa which 

incorporates Council resolutions, made under Chapter VII of the 

Charter, into domestic taw. The provisions of Resolutions 661 and 

986 therefore have no legal effect on individual persons, legal or 

natural, in our domestic taw. More importantly, by virtue of the 

principle that a crime cannot be committed unless it already exists in 

our law26
, individuals who associated themselves with or made 

payments to Iraq contrary to the provisions of Resolutions 661 and 

986, did not commit offences in South Africa by doing so. Nor do 

such activities attrac~ criminal liability under international law to 

individual perpetra\ors i.e. to legal or natural persons. 

See section 231(5) of the Constitution. 
See section 231 ( 4) of the Constitution. 
The nul/urn crimen sine lege principle. 
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PART D 

REQUEST FOR EXTENSION OF TERMS OF REFERENCE 

[49.] Lexoil is a South African registered company. It is not a subject of the 

Commission's investigation. A company search reveals that Lexoil was 

registered on 23 August 2000. Its physical address is Suite 402, West 

Tower Sandton Square, 3 Maude Street, Sandton. Mr Barry David Aaron 

("Aaron"), an attorney, with the same business address was appointed as 

a director on 30 July 2003. The only other director is Mr Kevin Gordon 

Morgan who was appointed on the same date. 

[50.] On 17 January 2001 the Oil Overseers informed Dormehl, at the Mission, 

that Lexoil had been registered as a national oil purchaser which was 

authorised to communicate with the Oil Overseers in respect of oil sales 

under Resolution 986. This notice had been preceded by a note directed 

by the Mission to the OIP on 17 January 2001 requesting the registration 

of a South African company wishing to purchase oil from Iraq under the 

provisions of Resolution 986. The company named was Lexoil, and the 

contact person named was Aaron. He later became Majali's attorney as 

well as a director of Lexoil. 

[51.] On 18 January 2001 Cardy informed Aaron (Lexoil) by letter that United 

Technical Engineering Systems had been registered as an oil purchaser. 

On 19 January 2001 Aaron directed a letter to Cardy, pointing out that 
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Lexoil should have been registered ("Aarons letter of 19 January"). Aaron 

requested a replacement letter. The details of Lexoil which appear on this 

letter suggest that by 19 January 2001 Majali had become associated with 

Lexoil and that knowledge of Iraq's surcharge policy may be attributed to 

Lexoil. 

[52.] Lexoil concluded Contract No. M/11/124 ("the Lexoil Contract'') with 

SOMO, for the sale of one million barrels of Kirkuk, on 8 May 2002 during 

Phase 11. The Lexoil Contract was signed by Mazen Hassen Saleh 

("Saleh") on behalf of Lexoil and was valid until 29 May 2002. Lexoil's 

application to the Oil Overseers for approval of this contract was 

apparently also signed by Saleh. He used the South African address 

above. This was recorded as the place of registration of Omni Oil. Saleh 

was the contact person, but the contact details (telephone, facsimile and 

e-mail), were those of Aaron. 

[53.) At present there is no evidence to suggest that Saleh was a director of the 

South African registered company or that he was duly authorised to 

contract on behalf of Lexoil. A letter directed by Aaron to Mr Dumisani S 

Kumalo, the Ambassador at the Mission ("Ambassador Kumalo"}, on 7 

April 2003, confirmed that the only contract "which we executed in respect 

of the oil for food Program (was) Contract No. M/11/124, a primary 

contract allocated to us.". In this letter Aaron spoke about "our 

representatives in Jordan". He directed a copy of the letter to Saleh, 

"LEXOIL-JORDAN". The probabilities suggest that a lifting of the 
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corporate veil would reveal that Lexoil is a front company owned and 

controlled from Jordan. 

[54.] The Iraqi Oil Minister approved the Lexoil Contract on 11 May 2002. A 

request for approval from SOMO included a common clause numbered 

eleven ("the standard surcharge clause") which provided as follows: 

"Recovery amount payable within (30) days after shipment loading". This 

contract was processed under the auspices of the Mission. Ultimately the 

contract was extended beyond the period during which SOMO chose to 

impose its surcharge policy. No surcharges were paid. 

[55.] On 11 September 2002 BNP Paribas issued a letter of credit to the 

Escrow Bank, BNP Paribas New York in favour of the UN by order of 

Lexoil care of Aaron's business address above pursuant to the Lexoil 

Contract. The transparency of the financial arrangements was 

compromised as a result of the circumstances referred to in Paragraph 

[38.] above. 

[56.) Three requests for consecutive extensions of the contract were made to 

the Oil Overseers by Saleh, on 20 June, 31 July and 10 September 2002. 

Appearing at the foot of the page bearing the Lexoil letterhead, on which 

Saleh made each request, was an express reference to Lexshell 74, 

Property Holdings (Pty) Limited, Executive BD Aaron, Registration number 

97/16624/07 ("Lexshell"). Aaron's letter of 19 January 2001also contained 
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Lexshell's details at the foot of the page. The executives were described 

there as BD Aaron. S Majali and P Lange. 

[57.) By 19 January 2001, when Majali's name appeared on the 

correspondence of Lexoil in its dealings with the Mission, Majali had 

already visited Iraq with AI Khafaji and Hemphill, and he had signed a 

contract with SOMO (on behalf of Montega). He had been informed 

by Iraqi officials that the Iraqis required surcharge payments on any 

barrels of oil that would be lifted. Knowledge of the Iraqi's surcharge 

requirement on the part of Lexoil, when it applied to the Mission for 

registration and when it concluded the Lexoil Contract, may be 

attributed to the company because of Majali's apparent directorship 

at those times. 

[58.] Table 3 of the IIC Summary of Oil Sales by Non-Contractual Beneficiaries 

reflects that the beneficiary of this contract was Mr Bessam Mashhur 

Haditha ("Haditha"). His "country" was Jordan and one million barrels 

were allocated. That is, the Lexoil Contract was facilitated under the 

auspices of a Mission Country viz. South Africa for the benefit of a 

Jordanian. Haditha was also the non-contractual beneficiary of Contract 

No. M/10/66, for two million barrels. The Mission Country for that contract 

was Turkey. The contracting company was Delta Petroleum Products 

Trading Company. By the time that the Lexoif Contract was concluded 

Delta had already concluded ten oil contracts in the first 1 0 phases of the 

Programme. They paid surcharges in respect of the last three contracts. 
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This included the contract, during Phase 10, for which Haditha was the 

non-contractual beneficiary. It is likely that he was well aware of the 

surcharge requirement when Lexoil contracted for his benefit under the 

auspices of the Mission during Phase 11 . Lexoil became Haditha's South 

African face, after he changed the Mission through which he obtained his 

benefit of Iraqi oil. 

[59.] The Commission accordingly recommends the extension of its terms of 

reference so as to provide for resolution of the issues described in 

paragraph [198] below. 



42 

PARTE 

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON DOCUMENTATION ALONE 

[60.] The Commission is investigating the following possible recommendations. 

60.1 In dealing with Council resolutions such as Resolution 661 , which impose 

economic sanctions, whether national legislation should be enacted to 

incorporate the provisions of Chapter VII of the Charter into domestic law 

to such extent as is necessary to create liability for the individual. Such 

legislation would prohibit South African nationals both m South Africa and 

abroad, as well as any person within the terntory of South Africa, from 

committing any "listed activity" in violation of the provisions of Council 

resolutions passed under Chapter VII. after such activity has been listed 

by the Executive in the Gazette. Criminal sanctions for persons (legal or 

natural) who commit a listed activity, would be legislated for. 

60.2 In dealing with Council resolutions such as Resolution 986, that partially 

lift and/or ameliorate economic sanctions, whether a further legislative 

prohibition should be created. This would prohibit South African 

companies and individuals and any person within South Africa who may 

become involved in UN sanctions programmes, from executing contracts 

without a licence. Such licensing could be introduced and administrated 
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by the Treasury, the DFA and/or the State departments which are relevant 

to the particular activity27
• 

60.3 Whether directives should be issued to the DFA, to the effect that in the 

future, UN regulated exemptions from the imposition of economic 

sanctions under Chapter VII, which are processed by the Mission, should 

be thoroughly scrutinised and refused whenever the participants and/or 

beneficiaries are not South African nationals. 

60.4 Whether the National Prosecuting Authority should be requested to 

investigate the perpetration of crimes of fraud on the Mission (and the 

Republic) as a result of the activities of Hemphill, Majali, AI Khafaji and 

Haditha, in the circumstances described in this report. 

60.5 Whether provision should be made by the Department of Finance to put 

exchange control regulations into place, spontaneously and in line with 

Chapter VII resolutions, as soon as such resolutions are passed in the 

future, in order to prohibit the provision of finance to states under 

economic sanction. 

60.6 Whether similar provision should be made to control the import into and 

27 

export from South Africa of goods affected by such sanctions and/or the 

The indictment S I 05 (Cr. 59 DC), in the US District Court, Southem District of New York, refers 
10 US federal law, which is directed at the mischief under investigation and which could serve as a 
useful reference. 
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transhipment thereof via the territory of South Africa, or through the use of 

South African flag vessels. 
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PARTF 

LIMITATIONS ON THE COMMISSION 

[61.} Its terms of reference required the Commission to report to the President 

within three months of 17 February 2006, or with the consent of the 

President, as soon as possible thereafter. The term numbered 3 

authorises the terms of reference to be added to, varied or amended from 

time to time. The term numbered 5 provides that the Commission is 

subject to, and should be conducted in terms of the provisions of the 

Commissions Act. as well as the regulations made with reference to the 

Commission. 

[62.] On 31 May 2006 (i.e. some 15 days after the original date for a final report 

had passed) the Commission had its first formal written notification28 that 

the President had consented to an extension of the original final date for a 

report i.e. till 17 June 2006 ("the one month extension"). No further 

extension has been consented to. An informal notification. in the form of a 

text message, was forwarded to the Chairperson v1a cellular telephone on 

22 May 2006. It repeated a message which had been directed by the 

Deputy Minister for Justice and Constitutional Development to the 

Director-General of that Department on the same day. The present report 

with the limitations described herein is an attempt to meet the deadline of 

28 From the Department for Justice and Constitutional Development. 
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17 June 2006. The further circumstances limiting the execution of the 

terms of reference are described hereunder 

[63] During a telephonic conversation with Advocate Majunku Gumbi, on or 

about Tuesday 21 May 2006, the Chairperson was informed that the 

deadline of 17 June 2006 was a "holding operation". It was coupled to a 

request made to the Chairperson, on 6 May 2006 by Advocate Vilakazi, on 

behalf of the President; namely to postpone sine die the oral hearing of 

relevant witnesses who were under summons to appear and testify before 

the Commission from 8 to 16 May 2006. The postponement was 

requested in order to allow the President to obtain legal advice on the 

merits of an application brought by Hemphill in the Pretoria High Court, 

challenging the constitutional validity of the Commission's powers to 

question witnesses in terms of the relevant regulations ("the High Court 

application"). 

[64.] On or about Friday 2 June 2006, Advocate Gumbi informed the 

Chairperson telephonically that Senior Counsel had advised that there 

was no merit in the constitutional challenge. On 6 June 2006 Advocate 

Gumbi directed a copy of a letter to the Commission. The original letter 

had been directed, on behalf of the President, to the attorneys 

representing Hemphill. The attorneys were informed of Senior Counsel's 

conclusion, as well as of the willingness on the part of the Chairperson to 

clarify issues of concern to Hemphill, because the Commission wished to 

proceed with its work. Hemphill's attorney was requested to advise 
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whether Hemphill wished to proceed with the High Court application. No 

reply has been forthcoming. The Commission is aware that Hemphill had 

sold his house and that he was out of the country at that time. His 

attorneys have undertaken to revert to the Commission by Friday. 23 June 

2006. 

[65.] Should the one month extension constitute a final deadline for the 

Commission's report the Commission will in effect have been denied the 

opportunity of using both the powers that were challenged as well as the 

powers which were not challenged; that is, it will have been disabled. The 

first consequence is that the Commission will have been prevented from 

carrving out the mandate. prescribed by the terms of reference. which 

requires it to analyse information before the IIC. particularly by comparing 

it with information which the Commission should be able to obtain from 

other sources. 

[66.] Secondly, the late notice of the one month extension and the limited 

duration of the extension have made it practically impossible for the 

Commission to exercise the powers which it is bound to exercise in terms 

of Regulation 5 read with sections 3 and 4 of the Commissions Act i.e. to 

summons witnesses for oral examination at public hearings. In the 

absence of such oral examinations the Commission would have no 

alternative other than to simply accept the inferences drawn by the IIC in 

relation (at least) to Montega, lmvume and Mocoh i.e. three companies 
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which the Commission is required to investigate in order to assess the 

correctness of the IIC findings. 

[67.] Thirdly, should this report come to be the "final report", persons implicated 

by the IIC and this report will not have been afforded a proper opportunity 

to rebut allegations made by the IIC and the conclusions reached in this 

report. The necessity of this process arises by implication from the terms 

of reference, particularly the fourth paragraph of the preamble. All of 

those affected and with whom the Commission has had dealings so far 

have Indicated some degree of willingness to cooperate in such a process. 

Majali and lmvume have insisted that the Commission should hear their 

vers1on of events before it prepares a final report. 

[68.] Attorneys Werksmans, acting for Sexwale, undertook to answer certain 

written questions put to Sexwale in a letter from the Commission. In 

accordance with this undertaking a reply was received by the Commission 

on 15 June 2006 at 12h54. Similarly, the State Attorney, Pretoria, acting 

on behalf of the Director-General of the DME. Advocate Sandile Nogxina 

("the Director-General" or ·Nogxina"), has undertaken to provide an 

affidavit which will be deposed to by the Director-General in answer to 

questions directed to him in writing. This may well dispose of the 

conclusions and issues raised in paragraph [43.] above. The Director­

General is unlikely to comply with his undertaking before 17 June 2006. 

At this stage Commissioner Chauke is attempting to negotiate a similar 

arrangement with Motlanthe, who apparently may now be legally 
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represented. Commissioner Moleko has been attempt1ng to liaise with the 

Senous Fraud Office rthe Office"} in London in order to clarify the role of 

Hacking. According to newspaper reports the Office and HM Revenue 

and Customs are investigating whether or not Glaxo Smith Kline PLC 

(which took over Glaxo Wellcome SA) contravened British law in supplying 

goods to Iraq. None of this information could be analysed or find its way 

into a final report by 17 June 2006. 

[69.] An interim report on progress of the Commission (pursuant to the term 

numbered 4} was prepared on 31 March 2006 and was delivered to the 

President via the office of his Director-General on 4 April 2006. Therein 

the Commission dealt with material factors which suggested that a 

comprehensive final report would require the tenure of the Commission to 

endure beyond three months. In the final paragraph the Chairperson 

concluded that there was little prospect that the Commission could provide 

a final report before the end of July 2006. 

[70.) In a request, dated 26 April 2006 and delivered to the Presidency on 2 

May 2006, the Commission proposed 31 August 2006 as a realistic final 

reporting date. It was stated in paragraph 13 of the request that the 

heanngs relating to oil surcharges would effectively take up the last part of 

the three month period described in the terms of reference. Because of 

time constraints any hearing relating to the payment of kickbacks arising 

from humanitarian goods transactions would have had to be carried out 

after the three month reporting period had expired. 
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(71.] As a result of the delays above and a need on the part of the Commission 

to obtam and analyse more information than it has so far, as well as the 

need to question necessary witnesses orally (and allow them time for 

preparation), the Commission will probably require till at least the end of 

August 2006 to produce a final report. 

Necessary witnesses 

[72.} The necessary witnesses in relation to oil surcharges are Messrs Sandi 

Majali (who is expressly referred to in the annexure to the Commission's 

terms of reference). as well as lvor lchikowitz (the broker for 

Glencore/SOPAK and the active role-player in Montega/lmvume), George 

Poole (Montega's Attorney), Riaz Jawooaeen (a Member of the Board of 

Directors of the SFF) and Rodney Hemphill. The supplementary 

witnesses who could be dealt with on an alternative basis are the Oirecror­

General of the DME (Advocate Nogxina) and Messrs Kgalema Motlanthe 

and Tokyo Sexwale. Thereafter the Commission would seek to interview 

Mr Simon Cardy of the Mission and/or another former employee who dealt 

with the Programme, Mr Andries Dormehl. 

[73.] Within the present time constraints no analysis at all could be made of the 

evidence and information relating to three of the companies listed in the 

Annexure, which allegedly paid kickbacks viz. Ape Pumps, Glaxo 

Wellcome SA and Reyrolle Limited . Mocoh is not dealt with below 

because the reply prepared for Mr Se>-.'Wale by his attorneys may alter any 
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conclusions drawn (particularly in the light of compelling indications of 

exploitation by foreign entrepreneurs described above). 

(74.] The basis on which the President is authorised to make a proclamation 

establishing a Commission of Inquiry which involves the provisions of the 

Commissions Act, is that the matter under enquiry is one of public 

concern29• In this case public concern relates to the payment of oil 

surcharges and kickbacks on the sale of humanitarian goods, involving 

South African companies and individuals. Layers of South African 

individuals seem to be involved in the contractual chains which are 

associated with the persons and companies identified m the Annexure. In 

the case of transactions involving humanitarian goods, according to 

information the Commission received from the IIC, foreign agents were 

associated with the South African entities. These matters cannot be 

addressed properly (and lawfully) unless the Commission is afforded a 

proper opportunity to question (as a minimum) the necessary witnesses 

above, under section 3 of the Commissions Act, and also to obtain further 

information from the supplementary witnesses. 

Conseauence of limitations 

(75.] This report is incomplete in so far as the terms of reference are 

29 

concerned . It is sometimes desultory and has had to be completed 

See the SARFU case: President of the Republic of South Africa and others v South African 
Rugby rootball Union and Others, 2000( 1) SA I CC. 
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hurriedly. The analysis below 1s based strictly on hearsay documentary 

evidence and is limited to Majali, AI Khafaji, Hacking, Montega, lmvume, 

Omni Oil and Falcon. Contradictions and omissions which appear in the 

documents remain unresolved by admissible evidence. In so far as the 

remaining companies referred to in the Annexure are concerned, 

attorneys for Ape Pumps are willing to assist the Commission but have not 

done so yet. Due to the period of delay in the delivery of documents 

requested by the Commission from the DFA ("the DFA documents") as 

well as the time constraints which arose from the Commission's three 

month reporting period, the Commission was constrained to act 

expeditiously and to direct summonses to recipients, whom the 

Commission had identified by conducting company searches (viz. Reyrolle 

and Glaxo Wellcome SA). Upon receipt of the DFA documents the ideal 

recipients were identified. Time constraints have not allowed the 

Commission to follow this up. Mr George Poole ("Poole") of the attorney's 

firm Bell, Dewar and Hall, now represents (the former) Glaxo Wellcome 

SA. 

[76.] Finally, because Hemphill had linked the subpoena of documentation tc 

his legal challenge, the Commission has not been presented with all the 

documentation which is in the possession of the witnesses previously 

summonsed The inferences drawn below may therefore be affected by 

this documentation when it is ultimately produced. 
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PARTG 

ANALYSIS OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO FALCON, OMNI 
OIL, MONTEGA, IMVUME, AL KHAFAJI AND MAJALI 

[77.] In this part the inferences drawn and conclusions reached above in 

relation to two individuals and four entities identified in the Annexure 

and/or the IIC Tables are supported by reference to certain documents in 

the Commission's possession. Each section below commences with a 

summary of the IIC's findings. The entities are then identified and their 

activities are analysed (sometimes collectively) with reference to the 

documents. The OF A documents are also referred to. The conditions 

upon which they were provided to the Commission are set out in a 

covering letter by the Director-General, Dr A Ntsaluba rNtsaluba"), dated 

26 April 200630. 

[78.] As will appear below, Hemphill had good cause to assert the privilege 

30 

against self-incrimination contained in section 3(4) of the Commissions 

Act. According to the IIC documentation, at all material times he 

represented that he was acting on behalf of three South African 

companies listed in the Annexure viz. Falcon Trading Group Limited, Omni 

Oil and Montega Trading (Pty) ltd. The first two are not South African 

companies. A company search has established that the first two entities 

A copy of this letter is attached to the letter addressed to the Presidency by the Commission. See 
footnote I 5 s11pra. 



54 

are not registered in South Africa They were fronts, probably for AI 

Khafaji. 

[79.] In passing it is worth nothing that AI Khafaji used Mix Oil Limited, and 

apparently exploited the State of Cyprus, to establish himself as a non­

contractual beneficiary of Crude Oil Contract No. M/08/117, involving the 

allocation of five million barrels during Phase 8. Fraud, on Hemphill's 

part, arises from his role in assisting AI Khafajl to put on a South 

African face, to pay surcharges and kickbacks, and to compromise 

South Africa at the UN. 

Falcon Trading Group Limited ("Falcon") 

IIC Allegations 

[80.] In the Annexure a supplier company is described as Falcon Trading Group 

Limited. The total number of contracts referred to is 16. Nine of those 

involved illicit payments. They fell under Phases 9 to 11 of the 

Programme. Table 8 refers to South Africa as the Mission Country. 

According to this Table the total after-sales-servtce fees paid by Falcon 

amounted to US$ 2, 627, 830. However. a lesser amount was levied viz. 

US $ 2, 525, 111. Inland transportation fees paid amounted to US $ 14, 

063. These findings of the IIC were allegedly based, in whole or in part, 

on actual data. Falcon did not respond to the IIC's request for an 

explanation of the aforegoing. 
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Fraud and perjury on the part of Hamphill 

[81.] Hemphill addressed a series of documents to the Mission on behalf 

of the "Falcon Trading Group" during 2001, 2002 and 2003. He 

represented that this entity was registered in South Africa as a 

company known as the Falcon Trading Group, with its principal 

place of business situated at 117 Eleventh Street, Parkmore, South 

Africa ("the Parkmore address"). Some of these documents are 

identified and elaborated upon below. 

[82.] It is apposite to mention that Hemphill may have committed perjury 

in his founding affidavit in the High Court application. In paragraph 

27 thereof he stated that-

"Summons No. 13 relates to me in my capacity as a director of a 

company described as 'Falcon Trading Group Limited'. I am not a 

director of a company having this name, and am unaware of the 

existence of such a company. However, I am a director of a 

company known as 'Falcon Commodity Trading (Pty) Limited' 

which has been cited as the third applicant in this application". 

[83.] Falcon Commodity Trading (Pty) Ltd was registered on 8 April 2002. 

The registered address of this enterprise is given as 34 Monkor Road, 

Randburg Ridge, Randburg. It is not the company that Hemphill 
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purported to represent when he made representations to the 

Mission. 

[84.] If Hemphill was unaware of the existence of a South African 

company known as Falcon Trading Group when he addressed the 

aforementioned series of documents to the Mission he perpetrated a 

fraud on South Africa's diplomatic representatives to the UN. 

However, the documents contradict his averment. 

[85.] Hemphill not only misled the Mission as to the true identity of 

Falcon, but when he did so he knew that, in all likelihood, the person 

behind Falcon (AI Khafaji) would pay "kickbacks" in Falcon's 

business dealings with Iraq. 

[86.] By representing to the Mission that the application for registration of 

Falcon was being made on behalf of a South African company (i.e. a 

legal person having South African nationality), Hemphill induced the 

Mission to process his application for registration of Falcon; and to 

associate the Republic of South Africa with Falcon's operations 

under the Programme. The process of applying for registration 

under the Programme was concluded via the missions of member 

states who were bound by Resolutions 661 and 986. These 

resolutions had not only imposed sanctions and created the 

Programme, but they also specifically prohibited direct payments to 
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the Iraqi reg ime. The process in question lent the credibility of the 

state of nationality of a company to applications by their nationals 

and ought to have assured compliance with the resolutions. 

[87.] IIC documentation shows that Falcon probably paid after-sales-

service fees and inland transportation fees. AI Khafaj i signed at least 

five "side agreements" in which Falcon agreed to pay a ten percent after-

sales-service fee to the Iraqi State Trading Company for Construction 

Materials31
• Three of these side agreements also made provision for 

inland transportation fees. In the circumstances the Republic of South 

Africa was prejudiced or potentially prejudiced by the 

misrepresentations contained in documentation forwarded by 

Hemphill to UN bodies established under the Programme. 

Illustrative documentation 

[88.] The DFA documents contain information emanating from the Mission ("the 

3 1 

Mission records") . There is a schedule of 37 contracts relating to Falcon 

that were either approved by the 661 Committee or actually concluded. In 

the Mission records Hemphill is reflected as the Mission's contact for 

"Falcon Trading Ltd" with the following contact details: 

Tel: 0112711 8831172 
011 27 21 790 6863 
011 27 21 791 0081 

Contract NO. 12-CO 00210N ANG WOOD, CONTRACT NOS. 10-H-23, 011-H-024, 12-C0-
00211 and one side agreement to supply 1 000 tons of round plain bars. See documents "1" to 
"6" in Addendum One. 



Fax: 0112711 884 0098 
0112721 790 5928 
0112721 791 0085 
Cell No. 082 412 0690 
E-mail: falcontrading@icon.co.za 
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IIC documentation shows that these contact details were shared between 

Falcon, Omni and Montega. 

[89.] On 18 October 2001 Hemphill directed a letter to the Mission for the 

attention of Cardt2
• The letterhead suggests that it was written on behalf of 

the "FALCON TRADING GROUP", having the Parkmore address. An e-

mail address, apparently belonging to AI Khafaji, appears on the letterhead 

of Hemphill's letter. Certain addresses at the foot of the same page allude 

to the fact that Falcon may also have operated in the USA, Tunisia and Iraq. 

In this letter Hemphill requested the Mission to make application "on our 

behalf for the necessary authorities under phase 1 0 in terms of the MOU for 

the supply from South Africa or the Trans Ukraine .. . for the supply of 25, 

000 tons of various sizes of re-enforcing deformed bars .. . ". Hemphill 

attached Contract No. 10-H-23 from the State Trading Company of Iraq to 

his letter. This contract was one of the five, referred to above, in relation to 

which AI Khafaji concluded a side agreement and gave Falcon's 

undertaking to pay after-sales-service fees as well as inland transportation 

fees. Hemphill, AI Khafaji and Falcon Trading Group were therefore all 

associated in the payment of the kickbacks identified in Contract No. 

10-H-23. 

32 See document "7" in Addendum One. 
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[90.] The words "Falcon Trading Group" also appear opposite the "Company 

Name" of the "Supplier'' set out in Section 2 of an "Amendment Summary 

Sheet" attached to an amendment to the (humanitarian assistance) 

Contract bearing Iraqi Contract No. 11-0-99633
• The UN reference number 

was 1201522. The amendment was signed by Hemphill on 3 November 

2003 above the words: 

"(signature) 
Rodney S Hemphill 
Director 
Falcon Trading Group" 

[91.] The purpose of this amendment was to reduce the original contract value 

of Euro 239, 580.00 by Euro 21, 780.00: in order to remove the "after 

sales service fee". 

[92.] This contract was for the supply of 600 air conditioning units. The original 

contract had been concluded on 16 June 200234
• The parties were Falcon 

Trading Group, with the above-mentioned contact details of Falcon, and 

the Ministry of Trade, State Company for Shopping Centres, Baghdad. 

The original contract appears to bear the signature of AI Khafaji on behalf 

of Falcon. 

[93.] On 1 July 2002 the Chairman of the 661 Committee addressed a 

33 

34 

communication to South Africa's permanent representative to the UN, 

See document "8" in Addendum One. 
By that date, Omni Oil, which was effectively a joint venture between Hemphill and AI Khafaji , 
had already made two surcharge payments exceeding$ 1, 000, 000 in total. 
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Ambassador Kumalo authorising Falcon, to send the air conditioning units 

in question to Iraq and stating that the exporter. who was referred to in the 

UN documents relating to this contract (with UN reference number 

1201522). as "Falcon Trading Group", was eligible for payment. The 

eligibility for payment depended on financing specified in the Mission's 

communication to the 661 Committee. The payment to be made in 

relation to this contract was to be facilitated by a letter of credit issued by 

BNP Paribas, New York, in favour of the "Falcon Trading Group, 

Parkmore. South Africa"35
. t 

[94.] In the Matrix provided by the Mission ("the Matrix"), the authors have 

recorded that the value of this contract was Euro 239, 580 and that the air 

conditioning units were to be sourced from Saudi Arabia. This was a 

"priority contract". It was submitted on 18 June 2002 and deemed eligible 

for payment on 1 July 2002. The amendment referred to above was 

approved on 24 November 2003. 

[95.] Neither the documentation in the possession of the UN nor the Mission, 

35 

which relate to the original contract, make any reference to after-sales-

service or after-sales-service fees. From the Mission records it appears 

that seven amendments of the kind referred to above were effected. The 

documentation in question is not at hand. It might have been obtained 

See document "9" (REPORT CONCERNING REQUEST TO SHIP GOODS TO IRAQ IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH RESOLUTION 986 (1995) AND 133 (1999)) in Addendum One. 
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from Hemphill under a summons in terms of section 3 of the Commissions 

Act. Present constraints prevent this line of investigation. 

[96.] Hemphill probably managed some of the finances of Falcon. On 18 April 

2001, during Phase 9, the Falcon Trading Group (with the Parkmore 

address) concluded a contract (UN No. 900406), for the supply of 3000 

tons of instant full cream milk powder with the Iraqi State Company for 

Foodstuff Trading (Iraqi Contract No. 09/F0149). On 6 July 2001 a letter 

of credit (LC No. 1737958) was issued by BNP Paribas in favour of Falcon 

Trading Group (with the Parkmore address). The details of the bank 

account of Falcon were given as Standard Bank Limited Johannesburg. 

The amount was Euro 9. 674. 500 (Euro nine million six hundred and 

seventy four thousand five hundred)36
. According to the Matrix this 

contract involved a fast track application. The milk powder was sourced 

from Vietnam. On 24 May 2001 the Mission forwarded Falcon's request, 

to amend the contract, to the OIP for approval, because Falcon was "now 

sourcing goods from Indonesia". 

[97.] The impression which had been created in the mind of Mission officials by 

36 

37 

Hemphill's representations, up until 14 May 2001, is illustrated in a briefing 

("the Mission briefing"), which was directed to Ambassador Kumalo by two 

members of the Mission, Fadl Nacerodien ("Nacerodien") and Cardt7
. 

Beneath a heading, "Contract for the Supply of Goods and Services to 

See document "10" in Addendum One. 
See document "11" in Addendum One. 
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Iraq", the authors said the following. "Mr Hemphill's new company 'Falcon 

Trading' has recently forwarded four extremely large contracts for the 

supply of non-South African produce to Iraq. Falcon Trading is registered 

both in South Africa and the UK (Guernsey) and appears to be acting as 

an intermediary for supplies from Malaysia. Syria and Vietnam". At the top 

of the same page the briefing states that two companies "(Omni Oil and 

Montega Trading) that have submitted contracts to the OIP via the Mission 

are registered to the same person (Mr. R Hemphill). Mr. Hemphill owns a 

third South African registered Company (Falcon Trading) that supplies non 

South African goods to Iraq " Ineluctably, Hemphill falsely 

represented to the Mission that Falcon was a South African 

registered company in which he was the major shareholder8 and the 

officials at the Mission were induced to pass on this representation 

to the UN. 

OmniOil 

IIC allegations 

[98.] Table 1 contains the following information about the activities of Omni Oil. 

38 

The "Mission Country" was South Africa. Four contracts were concluded 

with SOMO. The non contractual beneficiary was AI Khafaji. Five and a 

half million barrels of oil were allocated of which 2, 070, 270 barrels were 

lifted. According to Table 2 these barrels were lifted under Contract No. 

See document " 12" in Addendum One. 
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M/1 0/24 ("the Omni Contract"). The value of this contract was US $ 38, 

550, 168. Surcharges were levied in the amount of US $ 621 , 081 . 

Surcharges were paid on the Omni Contract and amounted to US $ 621 , 

000. Table 4 reflects that Bay Oil was the underlying oi l financier of this 

contract and provided a letter of credit for the contract value. 

[99.] Mr David Chalmers ("Chalmers"), the sole shareholder of Bay Oil , has 

been indicted in the US District Court for the Southern District of New 

York39
, inter alia, on a charge of paying surcharges to Iraq. Bay Oil is 

alleged to have paid inflated commissions to intermediaries, who then 

used a portion thereof to satisfy their own surcharge obligations to the 

Government of Iraq. (This technique becomes significant when the 

Glencore/Montega and Glencore/lmvume arrangements are 

considered below.). Between mid 2000 and late 2003 Chalmers is 

alleged to have conspired with Iraqi officials and others to lobby the Oil 

Overseers to select a deflated OSP in order to permit the Iraqis to collect 

surcharges more easily. 

[100.] According to Table 5 Omni Oil deposited the following surcharges: 

39 

* US $ 60, 000.00 at Jordan National Bank on 17 July 2001; 

* 

* 

US $ 540, 0000.00 at Jordan National Bank on 5 September 2001 ; 

and 

US$ 21, 0000.00 at Jordan National Bank on 24 January 2002. 

See USA v David B Chalmers, JR. and four others- indictment S 105 Cr 59 (DC). 
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[1 01 .] As stated above no company described as Omni Oil South Africa (Pty) 

Limited is registered in South Africa. In paragraph 26 of his affidavit in the 

High Court application Hemphill stated that he was not a director of a 

company bearing that name, but that he was a sole director of a company 

known as Omni Energy (Pty) Ltd. A company search has revealed that 

this company commenced its business on 6 March 2003, i.e. at 

approximately the same time as the Programme envisaged by the UN was 

halted by armed conflict 

Illustrative documentation 

[1 02.] Documentation in possession of the Commission shows the following. 

40 

On 19 February 2001 Hemphill, purporting to be the director of "Omni Oil 

South Africa (PBVI) Ltd Inc, Omni Oil South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 117 Eleventh 

Street Parkmore Sandton, 3rd floor Wolverton Place, Market Square, St 

Peter Port Guernsey, GY1 W 11 18" (and sharing contact details with 

Falcon), directed a letter to Dormehl at the Mission40
• Under a heading 

"UN registration for Iraq Oil Purchase", Hemphill requested. the Mission. 

as matter of urgency, to have the above company registered with the UN 

authority for oil purchases from Iraq in respect of the Iraq Oil sales under 

Resolution 986. The usual procedure would have been for Dormehl to 

forward "the registration of South African Company" to purchase oil 

to "Ms Flora Eugene- Oil Overseers Office OIP." 

See document "13" in Addendum One. 
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[1 03.] Under a misapprehension, viz. that Hemphill was representing a 

South African registered company41
, the Mission directed a request to 

the Oil Overseers' office on 20 February 2001 in which the Mission 

requested "the registration of a South African Company" wishing to 

purchase oil from Iraq under the provisions of United Nations Security 

Council 98642
. The details of the company are set out above. The contact 

person was Hemphill. 

[1 04.] On 27 February 2001 the Mission informed Hemphill that Omni Oil had 

been registered for the Programme43
. This Mission letter followed a notice 

from the Oil Overseers to the Mission on 26 February 2001, informing the 

latter "that Omni Oil South Africa (Pty) Ltd had been registered as a 

National Oil purchaser ... (and was) authorized to communicate with the 

United Nations Oil Overseers in respect of the Iraq Oil sales under 

Resolution 986". 

[1 05.] On 3 May 2001 the Mission submitted a contract, between "Omni Oil 

South Africa Ltd" and SOMO, for approval to the 661 Committee. This 

appears to be Contract No. M/09/1 09. No barrels were allocated. 

[1 06.] The Commission is in possession of three letters of confirmation, directed 

41 

42 

4) 

by the Acting General Manager of SOMO, Ali Rajab Hassan ("Hassan") to 

the Oil Minister. They relate respectively to three subsequent contracts 

See the Mission briefing referred to in the previous section (document "14" in Addendum One). 
See document "15" in Addendum One. 
See document "16" in Addendum One. 
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concluded by Omni Oil viz. contract numbers M/1 0/24 ("the Omni 

Contract"), M/11/96 and M/12/9044
• They were approved respectively by 

the Oil Minister on 22/7/2001, 5/2/2002 and 17/9/200245
• The last-

mentioned contract was extended by agreement so that it probably fell 

outside of the period during which the Iraqis were able to levy surcharges. 

[1 07.] The first two contracts mentioned each contain surcharge clauses. 

Contract No. M/11/96 contains the standard surcharge clause. The 

standard surcharge clause also appears in the approval of the 

Montega Contract'6 (No. M/09/06), which was signed by Majali on 21 

December 2000 in Iraq. At that time AI Khafaji, Hemphill and Majali 

were visiting Iraq and seeking out allocations as joint venture 

partners. 

[108.] The Omni Contract provides for the payment of an "advance 

44 

4~ 

46 

surcharge" of the kind that is attributed to lmvume by the IIC Report. 

The clause provides the following: "Recovery amount: The Company has 

paid 10% of recovery amount in advance, (60) sixty thousand US$ Dollar, 

the remaining balance (90%) of the amount will be paid within (30) days 

after shipment loading". The sum of this advance, on an allocation of 

two million barrels of Basrah LCO under the Omni Contract, is 

identical to the advance that lmvume is alleged to have paid towards 

the First lmvume Contract on an equal number of barrels, albeit that 

See documents "17" to "19" in Addendum One. 
See documents "20" to "22"' in Addendum One. 
See paragraph 113 infra. 
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the latter contract contained the standard surcharge clause. The 

payment of a US $ 60, 000 advance by lmvume was therefore 

unexceptional in the circumstances surrounding execution of this 

contract These circumstances are elaborated upon further below. 

[109.] The Omni Contract followed an application which had been signed by 

Hemphill in his capacity as a director. The purchasing entity was 

described by Hemphill as "Omni Oil Co (South Africa)". with the place of 

registration being South Africa. On 27 July 2001 the 661 Committee gave 

notice to the "Omni Oil Co" that this contract had been approved-47
. The 

contract was signed by Hemphill purporting to be the Managing Director of 

"Omni Oil Co (South Africa)" on 22 July 2001 48
• The contract is referred to 

in Table 3 as an Omni Oil contract (Mission Country South Africa) for 

which a surcharge was paid. AI Khafaji, Mr Shaker, Country Iraq (Living 

Abroad) is described as the Non-Contractual Beneficiary and the 

President of the Association of Solidarity with the Iraqi people. 

[110.] On 25 February 2002 the 661 Committee informed "Omni Oil Co South 

Africa" (for the attention of Mr. Hemphill), that Contract No. M/11/96. 

concluded between "SOMO and Omni Oil Co" for the sale of 1, 500, 000 

barrels of Basrah LCO, had been approved49
• The application form which 

had requested approval on behalf of "Omni Oil SA" (with the Parkmore 

address and contact details), was signed by Hemphill in his capacity as 

See document "23" in Addendum One. 
See document "24" in Addendum One. 
See document "25'' in Addendum One. 
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director. On 20 February 2002 the Mission had submitted this contract 

"between Omni Oil South Africa (ltd)" and SOMO to the OIP for approval 

by the 661 Committee50
• On 26 February 2002 the Mission informed 

Hemphill that the contract had been approved51
• 

[111.] On 17 September 2002 (during Phase 12) Hemphill. in his capacity as the 

managing director of "Omni Oil Co (South Africa)" with the Parkmore 

address and the shared Falcon telephone number, signed Contract No. 

M/12/9062 after completing and signing an application for approval of this 

contract on behalf of Omni Oil SA Ltd53
• 

[112.] On 26 January 2001 AI Khafaji directed a letter to Majali which he sent by 

facsimile from the Falcon Groups.~ . The letterhead and logo identified a 

corporation, Omni Oil Incorporated, of 16910 West 10 Mile Road, 

Southfield, Michigan 48075, USA. An inference arises that Omni Oil 

was in fact incorporated in the USA, but that Hemphill failed to 

disclose this to the Mission. However, an investigation by the 

Commission, via the Information Resource Centre at the US 

Embassy, Pretoria and the database of the US Securities and 

Exchanges Commission which is made available on the Internet, has 

established that a US company, Omnl Oil and Gas Inc. was formed in 

early 2004 and has offices in Dallas (Texas) and Denver (Colorado). 

See document "26" in Addendum One. 
See document "27" in Addendum One. 
See document "28" in Addendum One. 
See document "29" in Addendum One. 
See document "30" in Addendum One. 
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Neither At Khafaji nor Hemphill are members of the board or the 

executive management team. Omnl Oil Incorporated could not be 

traced in the state of Michigan via available internet sources. 

Montega Trading (Pty) ltd ("Montega"), lmvume Management (Pty) Ltd 
("lmvume") and Majali 

IIC allegations 

[113.] Table 1 contains the following information about Montega. It was a private 

company The Mission country was South Africa. One contract was 

concluded ("the Montega Contract"). The non-contractual beneficiary was 

Majali. Two million barrels were allocated of which 1, 858, 530 barrels 

were lifted. The contract value was US$ 45, 502, 470. The surcharges 

levied amounted to US $ 464, 633. This amount rMontega's debt") 

remained outstanding. Table 2 reveals that the relevant contract number 

was M/09/06. 

[114.] A letter of approval of the Montega Contract ("the Montega letter of 

approval")55
, signed by the Oil Minister on 1 January 2001 records the 

following, mter alia, that-

(a) Mr Sandi Majali was the advisor of the President of the Republic of 

South Africa; 

The Montcga letter of approval appears at page I 06 of the llC Repon. 
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(b) a recovery amount was payable within one month after shipment 

loadmg, and 

(c) the details of the contract signed between Montega and SOMO. on 

21 December 2000, and contained in the Montega letter of 

approval. were based on the instructions of the Oil Minister given 

on that day. 

[115.] According to Table 3 Majali was also the non-contractual beneficiary of 

two other contracts concluded by lmvume Management: firstly, Contract 

No. M/11/72 rthe First lmvume Contract") for the purchase of 2 million 

barrels which were not lifted, and secondly, Contract No. M/12/78 ("the 

Second lmvume Contract") for the purchase of 4 million barrels. Table 1 

reflects that the value of the latter was US $ 100, 709, 660 and that 

lmvume lifted 4, 001, 505 barrels. Table 3 reflects that 4, 002, 000 barrels 

were lifted. Tables 1 and 2 reflect that no surcharges were levied on or 

paid by lmvume. This conclusion is contradicted bv the letters of 

approval. dated 30 March 2002 and 28 July 2002, which required the 

"Amount(s) of surcharge: to be paid within 30 days after delivery". Notes 

on the SOMO Allocation Records relating to the First lmvume Contract 

record an, "Instruction referring to (a) letter from Kgalema Motlanthe, 

Secretary-General of the ANC" 

[116.] According to the Ministry of Oil an "advance" surcharge payment of US $ 

60, 000 was deposited at the Central Bank of Iraq on 20 May 2002. 
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According to the SOMO records the payment was made in connection 

with the First lmvume Contract. While an advance surcharge payment 

had allegedly been made in respect of the First lmvume Contract, 

Montega's debt remained unsatisfied. 

The case against Majali 

[117.] Evidentially, the text of the IIC Report places an onus on Majali (and 

lmvume), to rebut admissions signed by Majali. On 17 October 2005 

Aaron, addressed a letter ("Majali's response") to Susan M Ringler 

(Counsel for the IIC), challenging the fairness of the IIC investigation and 

responding to a summary of a proposed IIC Report relating to the conduct 

of Montega and lmvume56
• 

[118.) In Majali's response he denied being aware of the surcharge arrangement 

in respect of Montega at the time (during Phase 9), when he, AI Khafaji 

and Hemphill had initially discussed the terms of the Montega allocation 

with SOMO. Majali alleged that he only became aware of the surcharge 

requirement after the Montega cargo had been lifted and that he had no 

intention at all of paying the surcharges. Although lmvume had received 

an allocation of two million barrels in Phase 11 Majali had made it clear to 

SOMO that no surcharge would be paid SOMO may well have levied a 

surcharge but this was never part of the contractual arrangement with 

Majali. The last allegation does accord with the IIC Tables. However, 

Sl> 
Majali'~ response appears at pages 230 to 236 of the IIC Report. 
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the documentation identified and displayed in the text establishes a. 

case against Majali. lmvume and Majali denied having paid any 

amount in respect of any surcharge and in particular an advance 

payment of US $ 60, 000. 

[119.) In relation to his alleged ties to the ANC, Majali admitted that he had a 

long standing and close relationship with the membership. He also 

admitted that the ANC had promoted the business activities of lmvume 

with the authorities of the former Iraqi Government, but that this was done 

in the "course of, legitimate, above board political support and promotion 

of lmvume as an emerging Black Economic Empowerment resources 

trading company in the restructuring of the South African oil and fuel 

industry" 

[120.] Despite his denials it was incumbent upon Majali to explain a written 

undertaking as well as a written proposal to pay surcharges which Majali 

had made to SOMO and to the Minister of Oil respectively. In both 

documents he acknowledged indebtedness above his signature. (The 

last-mentioned document is referred to below as the "proposal letter".). 

Both the undertaking and the proposal letter were written and signed on 

the letterhead of lmvume. They constitute the foundation of the IIC's case 

against Majali 
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[121 .] In his undated undertaking, which was directed to the Acting Executive 

Director-General of SOMO, Mr Ali R Hassan ("Hassan") Majali stated the 

following-

I SANDI MAJALJ REPRESENTATIVE OF IMVUME MANAGEMENT 

UNDERTAKE TO PERFORM ALL MY OBLIGATIONS ACCORDING TO 

SOMO REQUIREMENTS REGARDING RETURN MONEY (I.E US 

DOLLARS 0,30 PER BARREL FOR US DESTINATION OR (US 

DOLLARS 0,25) FOR FAR EAST DESTINATION FOR THE QUANTITY 

OF 2 MILLION BARRELS OF BASRAH LIGHT CRUDE OIL GRADE TO 

BE LIFTED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF BILL OF LADING" 

(In their report the IIC remarks that these surcharge rates were the same 

as those imposed during the majority of the surcharge phases57
.). The 

signatory of the proposal letter also appears to be the signatory of the 

undertaking. During Majali's interviewa with IIC representatives (uMajali's 

interview") Aaron acknowledged, with reference to Majali, that the 

signature on the proposal letter "is probably your signature ... ". 

[122.] The proposal letter suggests at the outset that Aziz, Majali and Motlanthe 

S7 

58 

had met on 10 May 2002 during the Baghdad conference, and that they 

had discussed the First lmvume Contract. The stated purpose of the letter 

was wto request a rescheduling of the payment contract due to yourselves, 

the history of which is common cause". The proposal letter also states 

that on 6 March 2002 uwe proposed to settle the outstanding amounts of 

See page 111 of the IIC Report. 
See paragraph 141 infra. 
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US $ 4641 000 in two equal instalments of US $ 2321 000 from the 

proceeds of two liftings that were negotiated in favour of lmvume under 

Crude Oil Contract No. M/11/72 dated 27/03/2002" (i.e. from the proceeds 

of the First lmvume Contract). Majali later explained to the IIC's 

representatives that the content of the proposal letter and the associated 

repayment agreement had in fact been traversed by a discussion which he 

was involved in59
. He also denied that Motlanthe was present. 

[123.] Besides making a settlement proposal to SOMO on 6 March 20021 

lmvume also concluded a supply contract with the SFF ("the SFF/Imvume 

supply agreement"). Mr Malibongwe Mandela ("Mr M Mandela") 

represented lmvume and Dr Renosi Mokate ("Mokate"), the Chief 

Executive Officer represented the SFF60
. This agreement recorded that 

lmvume had tendered to sell four million barrels of Basrah LCO to the 

SFF, and that the SFF had later decided to select lmvume as a tenderer to 

supply two million barrels. 

[124.] The proposal letter may have been written in the second half of May 

59 

60 

or in early June, as the letter suggests that a submission had been 

made for (future) lifting on 6 June 2002 and that the repayment 

contained in the proposal was to be scheduled for 15 July 2002. The 

proposal letter also stated that a second instalment would require a further 

See page 53 of transcript ofMajali interview (document "31" in Addendum One). 
See document "32" in Addendum One. 
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allocation of two million barrels "in terms of which we would commit to 

settle the outstanding balance by 15 August 2002". 

[125.] This request for further allocation was probably related to the fact that. on 

21 May 2002, Mr M Mandela signed a letter on behalf of lmvume (directed 

to Mokate at the SFF), confirming that lmvume had agreed to sell a further 

cargo of two million barrels of Basrah LCO to the SFF61
. The sale was 

concluded under the terms and conditions that were contained in the 

original SFF/Imvume supply agreement dated 6 March 2002. 

Significantly lmvume is alleged to have paid an advance surcharge 

towards the First lmvume Contract on the previous day within a day 

of a need developing, on their part, to receive the allocation of a 

further allotment of two million barrels in order to meet the extended 

requirement of this supply agreement. 

[126.] A translation of a note signed by the Director of SOMO and stamped by 

the Oil Ministry on 19 June 2002 states "Add amount of 2 million barrels 

{to") facilitate payment of dues in instalments - for the upcoming visit of 

Mr. Tareq Aziz to South Africa". Another translated note signed on 21 

June 2002 states the following: 

61 

''In accordance with the above instructions and conversation with 

the Minister on 20/6/2002, (illegible) (2) allocated for phase 11 + (2) 

allocated for phase 12 + (2) additional amount = 6 million barrels .. . 

for necessary action and arrangement for payment in instalments of 

See document "33" in Addendum One. 
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the surcharge amount according to the above agreement (Signed 

21/6)". 

The case against Motlanthe 

[127.] On 7 March 2002, 20 days before the First lmvume Contract was 

concluded, the Ambassador of Iraq to South Africa, Zahir Mohammad 

Ahmad AI-Omar ("Ambassador AI-Omar"), directed a letter to Aziz ("the 

Ambassador's letter'')62
• The subject was another letter which had been 

addressed to Aziz by Motlanthe which Ambassador AI-Omar annexed to 

his own letter. (The content of Motlanthe's letter remains unknown.). The 

Ambassador's letter was stamped by the Oil Ministry on 7 March 2002. A 

handwritten note on this letter, by the director of SOMO, recorded that the 

permission of the Vice President of the Republic had been obtained for the 

allocation of two million barrels. Another handwritten note, signed on 7 

March 2002, recorded that the amount had been requested by Majali. 

[128.] Inter alia, the content of the proposal letter and the Ambassador's 

62 

letter constitute the substantial basis on which a case against 

Mottanthe was raised in the text of the IIC Report. The mandate of 

the IIC did not require it to go so far as to make out a case against 

the ANC. Nevertheless, the IIC Report casts an unambiguous 

innuendo on Motlanthe. It suggests further that a case for 

See document "34". which is a translation of the Ambassador Al-Omar's letter, in Addendum 
One. 
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responsibility on the part of South Africa might exist. In the 

circumstances the findings of political manipulation in Chapter 2 of 

the IIC Report63 have not been ignored in this report. 

[129.] From the documents referred to above it appears that, at the same 

time as Majali claims to have met with representatives of SOMO (i.e. 

on 6 March 2002), in order to negotiate an oil allocation for lmvume 

during Phase 11, he was also faced with the hurdle of settling 

Montega's debt, which remained outstanding from Phase 9. He 

apparently agreed to pay. Majali bound lmvume to settle Montega's 

debt in order to acquire the oil which was necessary to fulfil the 

SFF/Imvume supply contract. The SFF was therefore drawn into the 

conspiracy between Majali and the Iraqi Oil Minister. This had the 

effect of subverting Resolutions 661 and 986. 

[130.] The documentation leaves one in no doubt that Majali seriously and 

deliberately undertook to pay the surcharge owed by Montega from 

the proceeds of lmvume sales to the SFF. Between March and June 

2002 he conspired with the Iraqis to pay these surcharges. 

Majali/lmvume probably paid the advance surcharge of US $ 60, 000 

on the First lmvume Contract as a token of good faith so as to secure 

the allotment of an extra two million barrels to meet the further 

requirements of the SFF. The issue of further surcharges payable in 

respect of lmvume contracts would inevitably have arisen in any 

63 See pages 103 to 114 ofthe IIC Report. 
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negotiations with the Oil Ministry, as soon as the settlement of 

Montega's debt from the proceeds of allocations to lmvume was 

proposed. 

[131.] lmvume would have committed an offence under South African 

domestic law viz. fraud on the SFF (or upon the State), if, when the 

SFF/Imvume supply agreement was signed by Mr M Mandela, Dr 

Mokate was not informed that Majali was simultaneously attempting 

to pay outstanding surcharges from the proceeds of the oil 

allocation which lmvume would pass on from SOMO to the SFF. The 

relationship between the DME and the SFF was described as "that of 

a Principal and an Agent" by the Director-General of the DME, 

Advocate Nogxina, in reply to a series of questions posed by the Mail 

and Guardian newspaper64
• He went on to say, "it is the 

responsibility of the Ministry to manage Strategic Stocks and 

Strategic Fuel Fund manages the Strategic Stocks on behalf of the 

Ministry on an Agency basis". 

[132.] Attorney Aaron, acting on behalf (of Majali and lmvume), has asserted 

their right to be interviewed before the Commission issues a report: 

because the allegations made by the IIC, which the Commission has been 

called upon to investigate and report on, are allegedly damaging the 

reputations of his clients and adversely impact upon their business 

dealings. As will appear below, Motlanthe, who is at least a material 

64 
See document "35" in Addendum One. 
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witness to the payment of surcharges by Majali/ lmvume, may have a 

complete answer to allegations of his own complicity therein, which 

are suggested in the IIC Report. 

Company History of Montega 

[133.] Montega epitomises the intermediary companies which, according to the 

IIC Report, the Iraqis relied on to facilitate surcharge payments. A 

company search revealed that Montega was registered and commenced 

business on 8 August 2000. Its main function is described as being 

"wholesale and retail trade - repair motor vehicles". One director, who 

was appointed on 8 August 2000 was Ms Fiona Me Murray, a UK national. 

The other, Hemphill, was apparently appointed as a director on 5 

September 2000. Majali is not reflected as a director. 

[134.] During January 2002 auditors Deloitte and Touche Corporate Finance 

65 

66 

("the auditors"), performed a limited financial due diligence review of 

lmvume65
, apparently to satisfy tender criteria of the SFF. Their sources of 

information included Majali ("lmvume Chairman"), lvor lchikowitz 

("lchikowitz"), Poole and Ricci Schwab ("Schwab"). lchikowitz appears to 

have been Majali's mentor. In answer to an interrogatory from the IIC66
, 

lchikowitz alleged that he was an independent operator who had no direct 

affiliation with SOPAK/Giencore. However, he had worked with SOPAK 

See document "36" in Addendum One. 
See document "37" in Addendum One. 
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for several years, identifying and introducing them to business 

opportunities in South Africa, including the contracts with Montega and 

lmvume. He eventually represented lmvume in its correspondence with 

the SFF. Poole and Schwab were members of the attorneys firm Bell, 

Dewar and Hall, who were the attorneys for Hemphill in the first instance, 

later acted for both Hemphill and Majali, and ultimately (in Hemphill's view) 

in the interests of Majali alone. The auditors reviewed the "supply 

agreements" of Montega for the 2001 financial year, which lmvume placed 

reliance on to win the tender with the SFF. In fact Montega was only 

involved in one supply agreement, the Montega Contract. 

(135.] During an initial interview (on 23 January 2002), the auditors were 

informed that Montega was owned by three shareholders, namely, 

Hemphill, Majali and AI Khafaji. They were further informed that Montega 

was used to secure the allocation of one contract "at a time when lmvume 

was still being conceptualized''. SOPAK allegedly acted "as an arms 

length counter party to the transaction". The auditors perused certain 

documents at the offices of the abovementioned attorneys, but the 

shareholding in Montega was never proved by the documents. Nowhere 

in the documentation was the alleged shareholding or even the 

registration number of Montega mentioned. Majali is referred to as a 

director of the company. He had signed the Montega Contract with 

SOMO in the capacity of director. 
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(136.) The auditors' report noted that in the tender documents submitted to the 

SFF by lmvume, lmvume stated that Montega was a subsidiary of 

lmvume. No evidence was seen to support this statement. In fact. 

lmvume was only incorporated on 12 February 2001. "at which time the 

Montega transaction was already complete". 

Other illustrative documentation 

[137 .) On 24 November 2000, in a letterll7 signed by Hemphill, as "director, 

Montega Trading {Pty) Ltd" (having the shared contact details with Falcon 

and Omni Oil), the Mission was requested to register Montega for the 

trade in and distribution of Iraqi Oil in terms of Resolution 661. Dormehl 

was requested to uplease note that we will be travelling to Iraq over the 

latter half of next week· . The "we" referred to were made up of Hemphill, 

Majali and AI Khafaji. 

[138.] On 21 December 2000 the Mission requested the OIP to register 

Montega. On the same day the 661 Committee informed Dormehl that the 

Oil Overseers had registered Montega as a national oil purchaser, which 

was authonsed to communicate with the Oil Overseers in terms of 

Resolution 986. 

1>7 See document "38" in Addendum One. 
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[139.] On 23 December 2000, Hemphill directed a letter to Dormehl66 to which he 

attached the Montega Contract "as signed between ourselves and the 

State Oil Marketing Organization on the 21st instant ..... ". 

[140.} The 661 Committee informed Montega (Majali) on 2 January 2001 that 

their contract had been approved. It is worth noting that both of 

Montega's aforementioned letters referred to Hemphill and Majali as 

directors. The third joint venture partner, AI Khafaji, was not 

mentioned. Counsel for the IIC regard it as significant that the 

Mission applied for Montega's registration at the UN on the same 

date as the Montega Contract was concluded by Majali in Iraq. By 

this time Iraqi officials had probably made Majali and Hemphill aware 

of the surcharge requirement. 

[141 .] The Commission is in possession of a confidential transcript69 of a meeting 

68 

69 

("Majali's interview"), which was held at the offices of Barry Aaron and 

Associates on 30 June 200570
. The interview was attended by two 

representatives of the IIC as well as by Majali and Aaron (who was 

Majali's attorney at the time) and by Aaron's Secretary. In explanation of 

what had taken place in Baghdad on or about 21 December 2000, Majali 

stated that he, Hemphill and AI Khafaji had all been involved in 

See document "39" in Addendum One. 
See document "40" in Addendum One. Copies of the transcript and additional documents were 
handed over to the Commission by Aaron on 8 May 2006 (the date on which the Commission' s 
public hearings were to commence). A condition of confidentiality which Majali/ lmvume 
attached to the handing over of the transcript is set out in paragraph 4.3 of Aaron' s letter to the 
Chairperson on 7 June 2006. A copy of the letter is attached to the letter addressed to the 
Presidency which accompanies this report. See footnote I 5 supra. 
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discussions with representatives of SOMO in Baghdad. The Montega 

contract was in the process of being negotiated and the surcharge issue 

was discussed "informally"71
. Upon a proper interpretation of Majali's 

statements, as they appear in the transcript, Majali contradicted his 

response to the IIC which appears in the IIC Report. 

[142.] The irresistible inference which arises from the documents is that 

during or about 21 December 2000 the Oil Minister or his 

representative held discussions with Majali, AI Khafaji and Hemphill. 

Majali informed the Iraqis that he was an advisor to the President and 

they informed him that Montega would receive an allocation, but that 

it would have to pay a surcharge. Majali and Hemphill neglected to 

disclose the last-mentioned requirement to the Mission. 

[143.] During Majali's interview he averred that it was made very clear to 

11 

12 

SOMO that Montega was not in a position to pay the required 

surcharges. This seems unlikely. The suggestion contradicts the 

detail of the Montega Contract, which was exchanged between the 

Executive Director of SOMO and the Oil Minister within days of the 

meeting with Majali, Hemphill and AI Khafaji; namely that the 

standard surcharge clause applied72
• 

See transcript of Majali interview pages 16117. 
See llC Report p I 06. 
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[144.] Majall also contends that he had made It clear to Ambassador AI 

Omar that he would not trade unless the UN approved payment of 

the (Montega) surcharge. This proposition would have struck at the 

very heart of the prohibitions contained in Resolutions 661 and 986 

which were aimed at denying financial access to the Iraqi regime and 

its Institutions. As a businessman Majali would have known better 

than to make the suggestion alleged. 

[145.] The rationale relied on by Majali to exculpate himself was that 

Montega could not trade profitably if it had to pay the surcharge. He 

claims to have made this clear to the Iraqi's during December 2000. 

The argument should fail for four reasons. Firstly, because Majali 

nevertheless (and almost certainly) signed an undertaking to pay the 

recovery amount which arose from the Montega Contract73
• 

Secondly, because he made a written admission that he was liable to 

do so, which he then coupled to a written proposal to pay the 

surcharge in two instalments7
•. What is most significant about the 

proposal letter is that it lacks any suggestion whatsoever that Majali 

had ever been unwilling to pay surcharges, or indeed that he 

entertained the reservations which he expressed in his interview with 

members of the IIC. Thirdly, AI Khafajl and Hemphill, who had no 

qualms about making the surcharge payment in respect of the Omni 

Contract, were both Majali's venture partners in Montega. 

See IIC Report p I l l. 
See llC Report p 113. 
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[146.] Another ground for rejecting Majali's denial arises from instructions 

that must have been given to Poole by Majali and/or Hemphill, and 

which appear in a memorandum written by Poole, dated 19 March 

2001, (11the Poole report")75
• On 2 April 2001 Schwab sent the Poole 

report to Hemphill under cover of a letter. The report was headed, 

"On the Montega Crude Oil Transaction". The salient aspects of the 

transaction were set out therein. Parts of paragraph 4 of this 

memorandum are illuminating. They are quoted below. 

(147.) After Montega and SOMO had concluded a contract on 21 December 

2000 (so the memorandum states): 

7S 

"4. Montega resold the oil to SOPAK SA of RueSt Pierre 18, Ch-1701 

Fryburg, Switzerland on 16 January 2001. Written conformation of 

this contract was telexed by SOPAK to Montega on 17 January 

2001 . 

In terms of this contract-

4.1 

4.2 In terms of clause 7 the price was to be equal to the selling price 

approved by the UN (OSP) for the month of lifting plus $0.30 per 

barrel, and the United Nations pricing formula for applicable 

destination was to apply. 

See document "41" in Addendum One. 
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4.3 In terms of clause 8 the buyer was to establish a letter of credit on 

behalf of the seller in favour of the United Nations at least ten days 

prior to loading date. This letter of credit was to be for the basic 

price payable to the United Nations. The remaming US $ 0. 30 per 

barrel was to be paid directly to SOMO within 30 days of the bill of 

lading date". 

[148.] Such payments to SOMO were prohibited by Resolutions 661 and 

986. As an attorney Poole must have known this. As contemplated 

by paragraph 4.3 of the Poole report, SOPAK's principal, Glencore 

established the necessary letter of credit. As between SOMO and 

Montega it is probable that Montega was bound to pay 25 cents 

surcharge to the Iraqis out of the 30 cents owed to Montega by 

SOPAK/Giencore. This reflects the nature of the performance that 

SOMO did claim from Montega. 

[149.] Paragraph 11 of the Montega letter of approval, dated 26 December 2001, 

made it clear that the surcharge in question had to be paid to SOMO 

within one month of delivery. The surcharge amount of US $ 464, 000 

which Majali undertook to settle "in two equal instalments of US $ 232, 

000 from the proceeds of the two liftings of the First lmvume Contract, 

dated 27/03/2002", related to the surcharge owing on the number of 

barrels actually lifted by Montega viz. 1, 858, 530. The amount of 

surcharge levied by SOMO (US $ 464, 633) and admitted by Majali 

amounts to 25 cents a barrel on 1, 858, 532 barrels. 
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[150 ] When regard is had to the passive role of Montega in the execution of the 

contract it concluded, the retention of 5 cents on two million barrels was a 

reasonable profit for merely obtaining the contract and processing it 

through the Mission. 

[151.] The Poole report also records that Montega made numerous attempts, 

(without success) to obtain a signed agreement from SOPAK. Eventually 

Montega did receive a document headed "Agency Agreement" which was 

signed, on 29 January 2001, by Hemphill (on behalf Montega}76
• This 

agreement appears to have been a sham. 

Sham agreements 

[152.] Adverse inferences may be drawn against Montega, lmvume, SOPAK 

and Glencore as a result of documentation which they generated and 

which is transparently calculated to misrepresent the facts and 

circumstances which existed at the time. The agency agreement 

between Montega and SOPAK was one of these. 

[153.] Glencore, in the execution of the Montega Contract, arranged the 

shipping, paid the insurance and saw fit to redirect the cargo of oil that 

was lifted to a destination (Singapore) other than the ones contemplated 

by Montega's agreement with SOMO. This resulted in an extra cost to 

76 See document "42" in Addendum One. 
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Montega of Euro 8, 523, 218. 58. which became due to SOMO in 

accordance with the pricing formula which should have been applied to 

the Montega contractn. The redirection by Glencore/Sopak violated an 

actual pricmg formula which had been agreed to between Montega and 

SOMO and was approved by the UN. 

[154.] The circumstances surrounding the "Agency Agreement" between 

SOPAK and Montega, which was only concluded two days before the 

lifting of oil and a month after Montega had contracted to purchase 

oil from SOMO, render the material terms of this contract 

incomprehensible. 

[155.] Clause 2 deals with services that SOPAK wished to receive from Montega 

n 

in relation to the Montega Contract viz. advice and assistance with regard 

to this oil transaction. It states that in the event of problems arising from 

the execution of transactions "covered by present agreement it is agreed 

between the parties that Montega would assist SOPAK in solving any 

operational. shipping, demurrage, supply and or administrative problems.". 

There can be no dispute that one reason for the involvement of 

Glencore/SOPAK was that Montega lacked any experience 

whatsoever In the very areas where the Agency Agreement bound 

Montega to provide expertise. In the Majall interview Majali 

confirmed that Montegallmvume were on a learning curve at this time 

See UN Treasury letter to the Vice President ofBNP Paribas dated 2 March 2001 (document ''43'' 
in Addendum One). 
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and were prepared to "take the knocks" Imposed on them by 

Glencore for that reason. 

[156 1 Montega purchased from SOMO as a principal and resold to 

SOPAK/Giencore. In no sense was Montega the agent of SOPAK. 

The Irresistible inference is that a confusion of contractual 

arrangements was intended by Glencore/SOPAK to disguise the 

underlying reality viz. that Montega was being exposed to the 

payment of surcharges in a side agreement with SOMO. 

[157 1 In support of the last submission it is relevant that Article 5 of the Agency 

Agreement provided that SOPAK would pay Montega a commission of 30 

cents per barrel, which is consistent with the inference that Montega was 

bound to pay SOMO the 25 cents per barrel surcharge. 

[158.1 That this was a convenient business arrangement for Glencore is 

apparent from the way it manipulated subsequent events. The oil was 

lifted between 29 January and 2 February 2001 . The ship carrying 

Montega's oil was diverted to the Far East (by Glencore or SOPAK). 

Montega's indebtedness to SOMO increased. On 27 February 2001 (i.e. 

25 days after loading had been completed). SOPAK sent a telefax to 

Montega confirming that the final destination of the cargo was the USA 

Gulf Coast. On the basis of this destination the underlying 

Montega/SOMO UN approved sale had provided for a substantial 

discount. On 28 February 2001 (according to the Poole report) Montega 
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conveyed the information received from SOPAK to SOMO. SOMO 

discovered the truth. On 1 March 2001 they informed Montega that the oil 

had been d1verted to Singapore. 

[159.] Montega's misrepresentation gave rise to a claim by SOMO for the price 

differential. This seriously affected the standing and reputation of 

Montega with SOMO and the UN, as well as Montega's profit. This 

irregularity was of major concern to the Oil Overseers. Not only did it 

damage the income of the UN Escrow Account. but it appeared to set a 

precedent18. The Oil Overseers referred the issue to the 661 Committee 

where the United States representative queried the approval of any further 

contracts involving Montega79
. By 8 May 2001 the 661 Committee had 

become familiar with Glencore's predilection for the diversion of 

contractually agreed destinations. The Swiss authorities were then 

requested to investigate another Glencore diversion i.e. a lift of Kirkuk 

from the USA to Croatia. 

[160.) Glencore, which had been an international oil trader before the 

78 

19 

Programme commenced, simply continued to trade under the 

Programme, but at arms length. It did so by exploiting a makeshift 

company, with no assets or experience, but endowed with a 

politically acceptable nationality. Glencore's relationship with 

Montega was such that the latter had to bear the brunt of Iraq's 

See Oil Overseers letter, dated 15 March 2001, to the 661 Committee (document "44" in 
Addendum One). 
See summary record of2161h meeting of the 661 Committee held on 5 April2001 (document "45" 
in Addendum One). 
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surcharge demands as well any risk of contractual breach (and price 

Increase) caused by Glencore in responding to the demands of its 

own market. SOPAK merely served to distance Glencore from these 

illicit activities. 

(161 .} Glencore's predilection for deception Is demonstrated further by a 

draft letter of credit which it directed to the BNP as well as by the 

terms of a contract which was signed by Mr M Mandela on 5 April 

2002 on behalf of lmvume80 
(

11the lmvume/Giencore agreement"). 

[162.] As stated above, the two million barrels of oil purchased by Montega were 

to be resold to Glencore, which provided the letter of credit for the sole 

Montega Contract. In dealing with the Escrow Bank Glencore insisted that 

its name should be concealed from disclosure to third parties. At page 

107 of the IIC Report, there appears an apparent draft letter of credit, 

directed by Glencore to BNP on 19 January 2001, requesting the issue of 

a letter of credit in favour of the UN on behalf of Montega and 

guaranteeing all the obligations of Montega, subject to the following 

additional request· 

80 

"HOWEVER, PLEASE NOTE GLENCORE AG'S NAME MUST NOT 

APPEAR ON ANY CORRESPONDENCE YOU SEND TO THIRD 

PARTIES• 

See document "46" in Addendum One. 
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(163.] Though lmvume was the purchaser from SOMO under the First 

lmvume Contract, ex facie the lmvume/Giencore agreement lmvume 

was the buyer of two million barrels of Basrah LCO from Glencore. 

Paragraph 6 of the contract provided that the price would be equal to the 

OSP formula approved by SOMO and the UN for the period of lifting plus 

a premium of US 46 cents (per barrel). Reference to the 46 cents appears 

to be deleted on the document. No explanation exists as to why Glencore 

would have had to sell the oil to lmvume, when lmvume had already 

purchased it from SOMO. 

[164.] Based on the documentation before the Commission, the 

explanations given by Majali do not bear scrutiny. Substantially, 

however, the documentation in question amounts to hearsay and the 

statements therein have not been tested against oral evidence. In 

order to exercise its duty to analyse IIC information, the Commission 

should be placed in the position to question relevant persons in 

order to establish precisely; (a) who, if anybody, was Involved in the 

apparent conspiracy to pay surcharges owed by Montega to the 

Iraqis; and (b) whether, in fact, Majall and lmvume were involved in 

the payment of US $ 60, 000 advance on the First lmvume Contract 

The necessary witnesses therefore include lchikowitz, Poole, 

employees at the SFF (particularly Jawoodeen) and the DME 

(particularly Nogxina), as well as Motlanthe. Apparently during 

September 2001, the last three were involved in discussions with the 
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Iraqis. One issue was the payment of surcharges which the Iraqis 

required from BEE companies such as Montega and lmvume. 

lmvume Management (Pty) Ltd {"lmvume") 

[165.] A company search revealed that the enterprise lmvume Management was 

registered and started business on 12 February 2001. Majali, who was 

appointed on 22 May 2001, is one of the directors. 

Illustrative Documentation 

[166.] On 6 September 2001 the Mission (Cardy) informed Mr Lawrence Venkile 

(another director of lmvume), that the company had been registered with 

the OIP as a national purchaser of Iraqi Crude Oil. This followed the 

Mission's receipt of registration from the Oil Overseers on the previous 

[167.) On 1 February 2002 Majali signed a draft SFF/Imvume (supply) 
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agreement82 which provided for a selling price equal to the OSP plus a 

premium of 48 cents net per barrel. That is, had the SFF elected to 

accept these terms they would have had to pay 48 cents more than they 

ought to have done under a direct purchase from lraq/SOM083
. The 

See document "47"' in Addendum One. 
See document "48" in Addendum One. 
During the 216ch closed meeting of the 661 Committee, held on 5 April 200 I the Oil Overseer, Mr 
Tcllings was asked by the US representative on the Committee what the normal consequence 
would have been if the company which had diverted oil (Montega) had come from a different 
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SFF/Imvume Contract. which was eventually concluded on 6 March 2002. 

also provided for a premium of 48 cents. Clause 17.1 noted that the 

tender price was quoted on dated Brent less US$ 2.28. Both parties then 

acknowledged that there was no OSP currently available for South African 

destination. Therefore the price was calculated in US dollars F.O.B. Mina-

AI-Bakr and would be "equal to the OSP formula when approved by 

SOMO and the United Nations for South Africa for the period of lifting ... 

plus a premium of US dollars 0.48 per net bbl". It seems that Clause 

17.1 obfuscated the price differential between what the SFF ought to 

have been paying (viz. the OSP) and what it agreed to pay. For 

reasons which appear below the aforementioned acknowledgement 

was probably unnecessary because an existing OSP could have 

been applied to this contract 

[168.} On 8 March 2002 M Goodfellow of Glencore wrote to Mokate: 

"Undertaking on behalf of Glencore to assist lmvume to fulfil its obligations 

in terms of the SFF/Imvume supply agreement of 6 March 2002"84
• The 

multiple transactions (i.e. SOMO/Imvume/SFF) were to be backed by the 

finance of Glencore which directed a confirmation of the transaction 

"concluded between our two companies on 6 March 2002" to lmvume. 

The confirmation was signed by Mr M Mandela on 5 April 200255
• The 

relevant terms thereof for present purposes were that Glencore 

(extraordinarily) was reflected as the "Seller" and lmvume as the "Buyer". 

country. Tellings replied: " ... the major oil exporting countries usually dealt directly with the 
end-users, so mtermediaries such as Montega Trading were not involved". 
See document ''49" in Addendum One. 
See document "50" in Addendum One. 
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In terms of Clause 7 Glencore would "invoice" the SFF directly on behalf 

of and in the name of lmvume. It appears that during June. Majali's 

attorneys, Bell, Dewar and Hall drafted an agreement which was never 

signed88
, but which was more consistent with reality viz the assignment of 

lmvume's rights to Glencore. 

[169.] The First lmvume Contract was concluded on 27 March 2002. Two million 

barrels were allocated. As stated above, Table 3 suggests that a letter 

from Motlanthe played some role in this allocation. and a handwritten note 

on the Ambassador's letter to Aziz (to which a letter from Motlanthe was 

annexed), stated that the director of SOMO had obtained the permission 

of (Vice President) Ramadan and of Aziz for the allocation of these two 

million barrels of oil. Motlanthe is therefore a material witness to the 

conspiracy between Majalillmvume and the Oil Minister which has 

been referred to above. Motlanthe has been requested to furnish the 

Commission with a copy of the aforementioned letter or to disclose 

its content. 

[170.] The Commission has established that the letter from Motlanthe may be 

exculpatory. Steven Miller, an Assistant United States Attorney for the 

Southern District of New York, has informed the Chairperson that he 

conducted an interview with Hemphill in Switzerland during May 2005. 

Hemphill revealed that he had helped Motlanthe to settle a letter, probably 

the one in question. In that letter Motlanthe had requested the Iraqi 

86 Sec document "51" in Addendum One. 
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authorities not to impose oil surcharges. The apparent response of 

Motlanthe, upon first being informed of the surcharge levy, was one of 

indignation. The suggestion is that the South African political delegation, 

of which Motlanthe was a member, had visited Iraq m order to assist it in 

removing oppressive sanctions. Therefore Motlanthe believed they should 

not have been compromised by an illicit levy. The Commission has 

agreed to use this information on the understanding that a "proffer 

agreement" between the US Attorney and Hemphill will not be violated87
• 

[171 .) The letter approving the First lmvume Contract, which was directed by 

Hassan to the Oil Minister on 30 March 200288
, recorded that an 

agreement had been reached between Ramadan and Aziz It also 

referred to the Minister's note on the letter of the Ambassador. The 

approval not only states that the amount of surcharge had to be paid 

within 30 days after delivery, but also that the delivery period was wbefore 

29/05/2002". An approval in similar terms exists in relation to the Second 

lmvume Contract for the four million barrels. This was concluded on 27 

July 2002, with a delivery period "before 25/11/2002". An application for 

approval of the second lmvume Contract was signed by Mr M Mandela for 

lmvume and was approved by the Oil Overseers on 7 August 200289
. 

[172.) It is quite apparent that during May 2002 Majali had to juggle 

87 

58 
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Montega's debt with the constraints of the further surcharges 

A copy of the proffer agreement is attached to the letter addressed to the Presidency which 
accompanies this report. See footnote I 5 supra. 
Sec document "52'' in Addendum One. 
See document "53'' in Addendum One. 
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required by SOMO in respect of the First lmvume Contract and the 

time periods laid down for delivery by both SOMO and the SFF. It is 

therefore likely that he would have been prepared to make an 

advance surcharge payment on lmvume's First Contract on 20 May 

2002; that Is on the day before lmvume's supply agreement with the 

SFF was expanded from two million to four million barrels. 

[173.] On 6 June 2002 lmvume nominated a vessel, SEBUISUB, to load the First 

lmvume Contract during the periods 25 to 30 June 200280
• On 8 June 

2002 SOMO directed an urgent letter. signed by Hassan. putting lmvume 

and Majali to terms to fulfil Montega's obligations as specified "in your 

letter presented in Baghdad on 5 March 2002.111
, failing which SOMO 

stated, "your memorandum of Vessel SEBU/SUB to load 2, 000, 000 BBL 

of Basrah Light Crude Oil during June 2002" would not be accepted. 

SOMO later agreed to extend the validity of this contract up to 31 July 

2002, but Hassan added; "All other terms and conditions remain 

unchanged". 

[174.] Ultimately, the four million barrels allocated to lmvume were sourced from 

two Russian companies, Slavneft and Machinoimport. These companies 

purchased four million barrels of Iraqi oil, under Contract No. M/11/103 

("the Slavneft Contract•) and Contract No. M/11/79 ("the Machinoimport 

Contract")92
• Glencore bought this oil for shipping to South Africa. It 

See document "54" in Addendum One. 
See document "55" in Addendum One. 
See documents "56" and "57" in Addendum One. 
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appears from Tables 2 and 5 that surcharges were levied and paid on the 

Machino1mport Contract. SOMO records show that a total of US$ 1, 097, 

413 in surcharges were levied on the Slavneft Contract, but that no levies 

were paid. The SOMO ledger records this as outstanding 

[175.] On 11 February 2002, the 661 Committee approved the Slavneft Contract. 

Two million barrels of Basrah LCO were allocated ex Mina-AI-Bakr. The 

pricing formula for the destination Europe and/or US markets was applied. 

On 14 March 2002 Slavneft requested the Oil Overseers to approve the 

lifting, during April 2002. of two million barrels of Basrah LCO ex AI-Bakr 

for destination South Africa. The approval of a pricmg formula viz. 50 

percent of the Far East price formula and 50 percent of the European 

price formula, uboth applicable for Basrah Light for April 2002", was 

requested. Approval was granted on 18 March 2002. 

[176.] The approval of this formula at that time demonstrates that the 

acknowledgement which established the selling price in the 

SFF/Imvume contract should not have arisen due to a lack of an 

official pricing formula for Basrah LCO in April 2002. This was when 

loading was required in terms of the delivery clause 10.2 in the 

SFF/Imvume Contract 

[177.} In a telex, dated 22 March 2002, SOMO's head of shipping advised 

Slavneft that their nomination of the vessel "Utah", to lift their 
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aforementioned allocation. was acceptable; but only if prev1ous port 

charges at AI-Bakr (owing since 7 July 2000), were settleda3 

[178 ) Previously on 2 March 2002, when Slavneft had not yet nominated a 

particular vessel to lift the oil94
, Slavneft was advised that port charges 

would have to be settled through an agent in Iraq or Jordan prior to the 

arrival at AI-Bakr of the vessel to be chartered. Slavneft was also 

requested to ensure that the vessel in question had settled its own port 

charges for previous voyages to the port. 

[179.] A similar telex was directed to lmvume on 25 September 2002, after it had 

nominated the vessel "TBN. to load two million barrels on 11 October 

2002, under the Second lmvume Contrac~5 • On 5 October 2002, after it 

had accepted lmvume's nomination of the vessel "Kristhild" , SOMO 

insisted that this acceptance was conditional upon the outstanding port 

charges for her old voyages to AI-Bakr (namely, "US $ 32, 668 on 19 

October 2001 and US$ 32, 668 on 24 February 2002"), being settled96
. 

[180.] In the above circumstances the lifts of oil by Machinoimport and 

Slavneft which were destined for the SFF at the instance of lmvume 

were tainted by illicit surcharges and port charges. Similarly lmvume 

became associated with the port charges due by the vessel 

11Kristhild" . 

See document "58" in Addendum One. 
See document "59" in Addendum One. 
See document "60" in Addendum One. 
See document ''6 1 '' in Addendum One. 
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Political Symbiosis In the IIC Report 

[181 .] The text of the IIC Report97 contains a narrative headed "Sandi Majali" and 

is introduced with the following statement: "One example in the 

Programme of exploitation of the symbiotic relationship between a 

country's closely aligned political and business figures and the 

Government of Iraq, is that of Montega Trading (Pty) Ltd ('Montega 

Trading') and lmvume Management (Pty) Ltd ('lmvume'). As described 

below, the principals of these two companies used their relationships with 

South African leaders to obtain oil allocations under the Programme". 

This conclusion cannot be correct in so far as Montega is concerned. 

[182.] The report refers to a visit to Baghdad, in December 2000, by AI Khafaji, 

Majali and Hemphill in order to meet officials. During the meetings in 

question, "Mr Majali described himself as an adviser to both the ANC and 

President Mbeki". The report further stated that, "after several days of 

meetings Mr Majali was allocated 2 million barrels of oil.". In the Majali 

interview Aaron acknowledged that Majali was inclined to overstate his 

connection. 

[183.] The evidence before the Commission indicates that AI Khafaji's 

influence was used to introduce Majali to the Iraqi authorities and 

precipitated the Montega Contract. The joint venture between AI 

<)1 
Chapter 2, section 0 p 103. 
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Khafaji, Hemphill and Majali obtained an allocation for Montega on 21 

December 2000. On 26 January 2001 AI Khafaji, who had been contacted 

by SOMO, directed a facsimile to Majali98
• Therein AI Khafaji stated that 

he had been informed by SOMO that "there is available for us up to eight 

million barrels of Kirkuk". The letter suggests further that its author would 

be in Bagdad on the following Monday when he would be in a possession 

to follow up with SOMO, "if there is any interest". This letter suggests that 

AI Khafaji and not Majali took the lead in dealing with SOMO. 

Furthermore Majali informed the IIC that, after the execution of the 

Montega contract, which had been obtained through the influence of AI 

Khafaji, a dispute arose between the joint venture partners which 

threatened the existence of the partnership. Hemphill suggested that 

Majali would obtain no further contracts without the link to AI Khafaji. 

Although the conclusion was incorrect it is unlikely that this form of 

persuasion would have been relied on if Majali's political connections had 

brought about the sole Montega Contract. 

[184.] During the approximate period when Majall failed to conclude a 

Phase 10 contract or to lift a Phase 11 contract, AI Khafaji was able 

to obtain an allocation, to conclude the Omnl Contract (M/10/24) and 

to lift 2, 070, 270 barrels, with a contract value of US $ 38, 550, 168. It 

seems therefore that AI Khafaji was the more powerful political force 

in the Programme at that time. 

98 See document "30" in Addendum One. 
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[185.) In his interview with IIC investigators, Majali informed the IIC as follows. 

"The Secretary-General of the ANC never ever got involved in commercial 

discussion in Iraq . . . Motlanthe has was never ever got involved in the 

commercial discussion in Iraq, but all what they did was gtving a verbal 

sub (sic) political support ... "99
• From this and from the documents 

referred to above one may infer that Motlanthe was instrumental in the 

allocation of the First lmvume Contract. 

[186.) The IIC Report records that prior to the renewal of his oil contracts in 

phases 11 and 12 Majali was very involved in strengthening ties between 

South Africa and Iraq. "In September 2001 , as chairperson of both the 

SAIFA and the South African Business Council for transformation 

('SABCEIT), Majali led a South African delegation to Baghdad. This 

included officials from the SA Strategic Fuel Fund Association and SA 

Dept of Minerals and Energy". The Director-General of the DME at the 

time, Nogxina, has previously denied that Majall led the delegation. 

[187 .) The Commission's terms of reference do not require further 

Investigation of political symbiosis. It Is therefore not pursued, but 

remains subject to the observations made above. However, the 

discussions and outcome of the visit of South African officials to 

Baghdad, during September 2001, is material to the issues which the 

terms of reference require this Commission to explore. 

PARTH 

See transcript ofMajali interview, pages 64 and 71. 
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Information within the possession of the Department of Minerals and 
Energy 

[188.] On 7 September 2001 Nogxina informed the Minister and Deputy Minister 

of the DME of a proposed official (technical) visit to Iraq by Minerals and 

Energy officials from 1 0 to 14 September 2001 . He requested the 

Minister's approval for departmental officials to be part of the visiting team 

to Iraq. The justification was set out in his written request~<><> under a 

heading "Deliberations". which is quoted verbatim-

"6. There is room for expansion for more trade by South Africa under 

the 'Oil for Food' (UN) programme and to the present total of US $ 

70 Million was been calculated. It is recommended that the right 

political atmosphere between Iraq and South Africa be created in 

order to win more business. 

7. A surcharge imposed by the Iraq's on their Oil Allocation makes it 

difficult for South African companies. especially Black Economic 

Empowerment Groups to break into the market. This is one of the 

issues that needs to be addressed by both parties. 

8 Future Trade Relations in the Oil Sector will be discussed in order 

to diversify South Africa's Crude Oil supply: 

[189.) The visit by the Director-General, as well as Aayanda Nkulhu (Director of 

Ministerial Services and the Minister's Chief of Staff) and Thabo Mafoko 

100 See document "62" in Addendum One. 
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(International Liaison of the OME), was duly recommended. On 11 April 

2006 and 3 May 2006 the Commission wrote to the OME requesting, inter 

alia, all records kept by the DME relating to the meetings held during this 

visit. The Commission expected to be provided with a report dealing with 

the issue raised in paragraph 7 of the Director-General's request which he 

should, as a matter of course, have prepared and given to the Minister on 

his return from Iraq. These relevant documents have not been 

forthcoming. Accordingly the Commission is constrained to rely on the 

Director-General's memory of events. 

[190.] The question of what the officials and delegates to Iraq were told 

about Iraqi surcharge requirements and in particular the obligation of 

South African companies to pay them is fundamental to the present 

enquiry and needs to be elaborated upon. 
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PART I 

The role of the Mission in monitoring illicit activities 

(191 .] In answer to a written question posed by the Commission, the Director-

General of the OF A, Dr A Ntsaluba, said the following: 

"In general it is noted that both the Mission and the desk saw their 

respective roles more as serving as a conduit ('post office') 

between the South African companies and the United Nations and 

facilitator of the process. than as an active participant in the 

processes"'0'. 

[192.] In an urgent briefing, dated 14 May 2001, Nacerodien and Cardy (~the 

authors") alerted Ambassador Kumalo to illicit activities in the Programme 

and inadequacy in the screening process at the Mission. The briefing was 

headed "SA Contracts with (the) Iraq Oil-for-food Programme". Inter alia, 

the authors made the following points-

192.1 South Afncan contracts with Iraq could be classified into two broad 

groups. 

192.2 With reference to the first group, viz oil contracts, the Mission had 
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received copies of complete applications and contracts from three 

A copy of the letter is annexed to the letter addressed to the Presidency which accompanies this 
repon. See footnote IS supra. 
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companies, which it had forwarded to the OIP for approval. The 661 

Committee had approved the contracts of Montega Trading and Metalcor. 

The Omni Oil Contract. "which had only recently been submitted", had not 

been approved at that stage. 

192.3 The companies involved in oil transactions were "acting as intermediaries 

rather than 'end users' of the oil (i.e. refineries)". Save for Metalcor, all but 

one of the companies were small, newly registered and had no track 

record in the oil industry. It was doubtful whether they had sufficient 

available capital or proven credit worthiness to purchase oil from Iraq. 

Nevertheless large quantities of oil of between two to four million barrels, 

at Euro 35 per barrel, were involved. Save for Metalcor there was no 

evidence to suggest that the oil was intended for use in South Africa. 

Copies of relevant pages from the Omni Oil Contract and the Montega 

Contract were attached to the briefing. 

192.4 Omni Oil and Montega were both "registered to the same person", 

Hemphill, who owned "a third SA registered company (Falcon Trading) 

that supplies non South African goods to Iraq and (had) ties with some of 

the other SA companies (e.g. Arbortek)". 

192.5 Allegations were being made that the Iraqi Government was imposing "an 

illegal surcharge on each barrel of oil sold. The money (was) allegedly 

being paid directly into an Iraqi bank account over which the UN had no 

control". 
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192.6 There existed an uincreasing complexity of the typical contractual chain 

between SOMO ... and the end user". 

192.7 Due to the number of uintermediaries" involved, the UN no longer had 

accurate records of who was actually purchasing the oil. 

192.8 A diversion of oil to destinations other than those authorised by the 661 

Committee was taking place, with the result that the Programme was 

losing money because the oil price differed according to the market it was 

intended for. 

[193.] Their recommendation is significant viz. 

"In light of the role of the Mission as the official 'authority' that registers 

and follows up on the contracts of South African companies in terms of the 

oil-for-food programme, it is urgent to ensure that the credentials of 

companies applying for registration with the OIP be looked at more 

carefully. In line with the intended 'name and shame' policy that the 661 

Committee may adopt, it is important that the Government not be seen to 

be supportive of illegal trade with Iraq. The desk may therefore have to 

consider ways of screening companies in terms of the criteria for 

registration mentioned above". 
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[194.] The proposed new criteria were: 

(a) "Proven credit worthiness and evidence of available capital; 

(b) Evidence that the company had previous experience in the oil 

industry; 

(c) Evidence of membership of international/national oil/petroleum 

organisations; 

(d) Evidence from national authorities of the company's date of 

registration; 

(e) A brief description of the company's activities and their involvement 

in the petroleum sector." 

[195.) Significantly the authors regarded the South African companies that were 

registered as oil purchasers with the OIP at the time as appearing to 

match the profile of "intermediaries··. which the USA and UK were seeking 

to target through the 661 Committee. 

[196.} Had the recommendation above been acted upon at the time, many 

of the illicit activities, which are now under investigation would 

probably have been prevented and South Africa's International 

obligations would not have been compromised. 
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Conclusion 

[197 .] In view of the contentions made in Part 0 above. the Commission 

recommends the extension of its terms of reference to deal with the 

following questions: 

197.1 Firstly, whether or not Majali was involved in a conspiracy with Lexoil to 

pay surcharges? 

197.2 Secondly, whether or not the representatives of Omni Oil, Lexoil and 

Falcon perpetrated fraud upon the Mission when they-

(a) represented the national identity of these entities to the Mission; 

and 

(b) failed to disclose to the Mission that these entities would conclude 

side-agreements with the Iraqis, to pay surcharges and kickbacks, 

over and above the official contracts processed under the direction 

of the UN. 

[198.] In view of the above the Commission respectfully requests the opportunity 

to complete the execution of its terms of reference 

(a) firstly, in order to commence the investigation of Reyrolle, Glaxo 

Wellcome SA and Ape Pumps; 
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(b) secondly, to retssue summonses for the delivery of relevant 

outstanding documentation; 

(c) thirdly, to allow Secretary-General Motlanthe and the Director­

General of the Department of Minerals and Energy to deliver replies 

to the written questions which have been posed to them by the 

Commission; 

(d) fourthly, to allow the Commission to consider a reply to questions 

that were posed to Mr Tokyo Sexwale by the Commission, in 

relattor to the alleged payment of surcharges by Mocoh, which 

reply was received by the Commission on 15 June 2006, when this 

report was already being finalised; 

(e) fifthly, to question the necessary witnesses, including Mr Rodney 

Hemphill, who are able to clarify whether or not a surcharge was 

paid in respect of lmvume by or on behalf of Mr Sandi Majali and/or 

whether an attempt was made to pay surcharges due by Montega; 

(f) sixthly, t o interview Messrs Andries Dormehl and Simon Cardy in 

regard to the information mentioned above and further tnformation 

which may arise; and 
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(g) seventhly. to prepare and formulate more thorough 

recommendations which would help to prevent a recurrence of illicit 

activities on the part of individuals in the future. in accordance with 

the request of the Secretary-General of the United Nations. 

[199.) The consent of the President to the aforegoing request will enable the 

Commission to carry out its terms of reference and provide the 

Commission with the opportunity to submit a comprehensive and final 

report to the President. 

(200.] Attorneys representing Mr Rodney Hemphill undertook to revert to the 

Commission by Friday, 23 June 2006, regarding his attitude towards the 

litigation and/or towards assisting the Commission to carry out its terms of 

reference. They now require an extension till Monday, 3 July 2006 in 

order to consu It with Senior Counsel. 

[201 .) Should resolution of Hemphill's application be achieved, the Commission 

would seek to conduct a hearing within a month thereof and to present a 

final report to the President shortly thereafter. The consent of the 

President to an extension of the date for the Commission's final report. to 

a date ten weeks after such extension has been formally communicated to 

the Commission, is requested ~ccordingly. 

Michaei7Donen, SC 
(Chairperson) 

Snr upt. lucy Moleko 
(Member) 




